Bethel University

Spark

All Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2021

Synchronous Online Instruction, Institutional Connectedness, and Retention in College Students

Kara L. Wicklund *Bethel University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://spark.bethel.edu/etd

Part of the Educational Leadership Commons

Recommended Citation

Wicklund, K. L. (2021). *Synchronous Online Instruction, Institutional Connectedness, and Retention in College Students* [Doctoral dissertation, Bethel University]. Spark Repository. https://spark.bethel.edu/etd/ 657

This Doctoral dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Spark. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Spark.

Synchronous Online Instruction, Institutional Connectedness, and Retention in College Students

by Kara Wicklund

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Bethel University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education

St. Paul, MN 2021

Approved by:

Advisor: Dr. Mike Lindstrom

Reader: Dr. Lisa Silmser

Reader: Dr. Diane Dahl

Abstract

This study utilized items in a campus life survey, administered during COVID-19, to explore relationships among synchronous instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention. Various statistical tests were applied to the data set to analyze relationships between variables. The study showed no relationship between synchronous instruction and retention, and also no relationship between synchronous instruction and institutional connectedness. However, this study did align with earlier research, demonstrating a significant relationship between institutional connectedness and retention. The study also revealed a significant relationship between retention and two key demographics, male gender and advanced standing. Additionally, the study demonstrated a significant relationship between institutional connectedness and two key demographics, athletic involvement and transfer status. This study concluded that while synchronous online instruction is not a reliable strategy for increased institutional connectedness or retention, there is a clear relationship between connectedness and retention for traditional, campus-based students. The study also concluded that some demographics (gender, year in school, athletic participation, and transfer status) correlate with institutional connectedness and retention in ways that warrant further investigation.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to my advisor, Dr. Mike Lindstrom, for helping me accomplish a dissertation when I was certain it was not possible. You simplified and straightened the path, making the writing process feel so much less intimidating. I am certain I would not have finished without your support. To my dissertation team, Dr. Diane Dahl and Dr. Lisa Silmser, thank you for asking good questions and poking at details that helped me connect ideas in ways that were clearer. I am so thankful for your feedback! Thank you also to Dr. Joel Frederickson for your immense help with topic selection and statistics. I am not sure I would have even started the dissertation process without your support.

I am especially grateful to my family. I am thankful for my mom's encouragement and support through my entire educational journey (which has included several twists and turns). Eli, Isaac, and Selah, thank you for your patience with an absent and tired mom while I chipped away at writing. I hope that cheering for me during this project gives you courage and confidence in challenging yourself to reach new goals even when you think you cannot. I am most grateful for my husband, Scott, who selflessly endured my writing weekends away from home even during a very busy season in life. You celebrated with me at each step, and I never doubted your support. You always have been and continue to be my very favorite part of this world each day.

List of Tables7
Chapter I: Introduction9
Introduction9
Higher education enrollment trends9
Importance of retention in online education10
Retention and social connectedness11
Retention and institutional connectedness12
Statement of the Problem14
Purpose of the Study14
Research Questions and Hypotheses15
Significance of the Study16
Definition of Terms19
Organization of the Study20
Chapter II: Review of Literature
History of Distance Education22
Impact of COVID on Higher Education25
COVID-related enrollment and retention issues
COVID-related changes in instructional strategies27
Problems with Connection and Retention
Sense of Institutional Connectedness
Retention
Problem summary

Table of Contents

Theoretical Foundation for Social Connectedness
Social Presence and Sense of Community32
Problems with Social Presence and Sense of Community
Theoretical Foundation for Institutional Connectedness
Identification
Social identification
Organizational identification
Self-verification and Identity Fusion41
Institutional connectedness45
Synchronous instruction and institutional connectedness
Gaps in Previous Approaches51
Chapter III: Methodology
Purpose of the Study54
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework54
Research Questions and Hypotheses57
Instrument and Measures58
Sampling Design62
Data Collection Procedures64
Data Analysis65
Limitations and Assumptions67
Ethical Considerations69
Summary71
Chapter IV: Results

Main Hypotheses72							
Demographic Analyses75							
Connectedness to Institution							
Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously							
Chapter V: Discussion, Implications, Recommendations							
Conclusions							
Hypothesis findings95							
Demographic findings97							
Implications for Practice							
Synchronous online instruction100							
Institutional Connectedness102							
Supporting retention							
Recommendations for Future Research104							
Concluding Comments106							
References108							
Appendices124							

List of Tables

1.	Frequency Distribution for the Original Intend to Return to Institution Item73
2.	Frequency Distribution for the Recoded Intend to Return to Institution Item73
3.	Frequency Distribution for the Recoded Intend to Return to Institution Item with Combined
	Category76
4.	Intent to Return to Institution by Transfer Students
5.	Intent to Return to Institution by Athletic Status
6.	Intent to Return to Institution by Multilingual Status
7.	Intent to Return to Institution by Gender
8.	Intent to Return to Institution by Race/Ethnicity
9.	Intent to Return to Institution by Year in School
10.	Connectedness to Institution by Multilingual Status
11.	Connectedness to Institution by Athletic Status
12.	Connectedness to Institution by Transfer Status
13.	Connectedness to Institution by Gender
14.	Connectedness to Institution by Year in School
15.	Connectedness to Institution by Race/Ethnicity
16.	Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Gender
17.	Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Race/Ethnicity
18.	Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Transfer Status
19.	Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Athletic Status
20.	Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Multilingual Status90
21.	Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Year in School

	22.	Percent of	Courses	Taught S	ynchronousl	y by	Year in	School		91	ĺ
--	-----	------------	---------	----------	-------------	------	---------	--------	--	----	---

Chapter I: Introduction

Introduction

Times are tough for higher education institutions. The number of students completing high school is in a slump due to a slow birthrate in the early 2000s, and it is expected to continue for several years (Copley & Douthett, 2020; Education Dive Team, 2020; National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2019). The price tag on a college education in the United States continues to rise despite public complaints, and institutions face diminishing financial support from the government (Education Dive Team, 2020). Sinking enrollment over the past several years has challenged universities to think creatively in an effort to attract and retain students; the competition for enrollment is fierce.

Higher education enrollment trends.

With a slowdown in the enrollment rate for traditional college-aged students and an urgent need to recover income from declining revenue (Morris, Ivanchea, Coop, Mogliacci, & Swinnerton, 2020), many institutions have turned to flexible program formats in an attempt to attract adult and non-traditional students and boost enrollment. Designed to extend flexibility to students who might not otherwise enroll in a traditional college setting, the front-running formats are competency-based education and online education. In online education, students engage in learning activities and interactions with others in the course through the use of a computer and the Internet. Competency-based education, on the other hand, is a model of education that focuses on helping students accomplish course goals (knowledge and skills) according to their own timeline rather than seat time and instructor-led pacing. This can include the online modality, but it may also involve on-campus activities (Competency Based Education, n.d.).

Competency-based programs are intended to meet students' learning needs more efficiently and at a lower cost, and the model can be extended to K-12 schools as well as postsecondary institutions (Competency-Based Learning or Personalized Learning, n.d.). These programs are challenging to launch due to accreditation regulation, and the growth of this format has been slow (Fain, 2019); in the meantime, online learning continues to boom (Koksal, 2020) as institutions race to create new online programs and convert existing, face-to-face programs to the online space.

While enrollment in higher education overall continues to decline at an unsettling pace, enrollment in the online education sector continues to grow, especially in comparison with its face-to-face counterpart. Growth rates in higher education distance programming showed a predictable plateau for the first time in 2014, though the enrollments continued to grow beyond that point. In their 2017 report about growth and trends in online education, Allen and Seaman noted that while this may appear at first to indicate that distance learning is decreasing in popularity, the plateau is a plateau of growth rate rather than enrollment. It is helpful to note that the growth rate slowdown is likely impacted by the steep decline in higher education growth rates overall and that the rate of growth in distance education still far outweighs growth rates in higher education overall (Allen & Seaman, 2015, 2017).

Importance of retention in online education.

Given the stable growth in online education, the number of institutional leaders that are considering online education as critical to their long-term strategy has reached its highest level ever (Allen & Seaman, 2015, 2017). However, this strategy is not without its own challenges. Because the overall enrollment rate for higher education institutions continues to decline and competition for students climbs, it is critical for all institutions to make every attempt at retaining

the students who do enroll. Online programs struggle significantly more than their face-to-face counterparts with retention, sometimes losing between 40%-80% of their students (Bawa, 2016).

This is a problem for students and online programs, and it is a cause for public concern. Students who complete college degrees experience success in life significantly more than those who do not (Leonhardt, 2015; Leonhardt & Chinoy, 2019), and for non-traditional students who may have struggled with success in the traditional classroom to begin with (including those from low-income or diverse backgrounds), completion is critical in the online setting (Leonhardt, 2015). While student impact is most important, attrition also impacts institutions. In any program modality, high attrition rates decrease the stability of revenue institutions receive from tuition. In institutions that are already struggling financially, this is an urgent issue. Retention is a critical issue for students and institutions alike, particularly in online programs.

Retention and social connectedness.

Long before online programs were introduced, Tinto's 1975 work in retention laid the foundation for understanding a foundational relationship between retention and students' ability to feel connected with one another. Tinto suggested that although academic progress is the most influential factor in student retention, social integration also has an important role to play in a student's degree fulfillment. He defined social integration as "informal peer group associations, semi-formal extracurricular activities, and interaction with faculty and administrative personnel within the college" (Tinto, 1975, p. 107).

Building upon this pivotal work, later studies on the relationship between a sense of belonging and student retention have been frequently documented in the literature (Chen & Zhou, 2019; Cheng, 2004; Cooper, 2009; Fischer, 2007; Masika & Jones, 2016; O'Keeffe, 2013). Studies have underscored that students with a strong sense of belonging in campus life

are more successful and have higher levels of retention, making student connectedness an essential institutional strategy for those who are at risk of completion (Chen & Zhou, 2019; Fischer, 2007; O'Keeffe, 2013).

Strategies recommended for the development of social connections include a wide variety of interactive approaches. One strategic area to the development of social connections for students includes ensuring that students have clear guidelines for interactions with one another, and that those guidelines ensure that their contributions to group work are high quality. This includes prompts for discussion boards to ensure constructive and deep discussion (Kim, Kwon, & Cho, 2011; Rovai, 2001; Skinner, 2007; Vonderwell, Liang, & Alderman, 2007) as well as clear structures for collaborative projects (Oliviera, Tinoca, & Pereira, 2011). The other major category of strategies focused less on providing guidelines for students and more on creating space for in-the-moment, flexible interactions among students and the instructor. These strategies help students perceive the instructor as a "real" person and set the tone for student interactions with others. Strategies include instructor participation in discussion boards (Rovai, 2002) as well as live interactions between students and the instructor that showcase an appropriate communication tone for the course (Skraamstad, Schlosser, & Orellana, 2012), demonstrate the instructor's availability and concern for students (Savery, 2010; Skinner, 2009), and allow students to get to know the instructor on a personal level (Hughes, 2009).

Retention and institutional connectedness.

While social connections are important for student retention, there may be more to the challenge. Experts speculate that some issues (such as retention and student satisfaction) could be due in part to the students' perceived lack of connectedness not only with others but with the

institution as they proceed through a program (Zawacki-Richter & Anderson, 2014). Some educational researchers have found that connectedness is multi-faceted and that some instructional strategies appear helpful for the cultivation of a stronger sense of connectedness (Zimmerman & Nimon, 2017). Researchers have proposed that if students lack a sense of community with other participants and with the institution, they are more likely to report low levels of success and satisfaction (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2010; Rovai, 2002, 2009; Tu & McIsaac, 2002).

While a sense of community with other individuals in courses is a critical factor in the success and satisfaction of the student in each course, some experts have more recently suggested that these factors comprise only a part of the student's sense of connectedness in an institution (Jorgenson, Farrell, Fudge, & Pritchard., 2018; Stone & Springer, 2019; Wilson, Gore, & Williamson, 2020). These researchers have suggested that in addition to experiencing community with (or feeling socially connected to) other students, students also need to feel connected with their institution as a whole. The limited literature regarding connection with the institution (or institutional connectedness) describes this perception as a sense of connection that is distinct from and in addition to the students' sense of social connection (or social connectedness) with other students in the classroom setting (Jorgenson et al., 2018; Stone & Springer, 2019; Wilson et al., 2020).

Because connectedness with the institution has been documented significantly less than students' social connectedness in the online environment, it remains unclear what instructional strategies contribute to institutional connectedness. However, because there is overlap between social connectedness and institutional connectedness (Jorgenson et al., 2018), it is reasonable to explore strategies that have been applied to online learning in the past with the goal of cultivating

social connectedness. Synchronous class sessions, in which an instructor meets with groups of students to discuss course content and complete activities, have many characteristics that can foster students' connections with one another. It is worth investigating how this activity type might correlate with students' increased sense of connection to the institution as well as retention.

Statement of the Problem

Online programs have unique and significant challenges with retention of students, particularly as overall higher education enrollment declines. Institutional connectedness (beyond social connectedness with peers and sometimes referred to as "brand identity" in for-profit corporations) plays a major role in supporting student retention and attrition. Institutions have historically cultivated institutional connectedness for face-to-face students through collective, on-campus experiences that help students feel connected to the campus, groups of students, and faculty (e.g., campus sports and clubs, classroom experiences), but these are challenging to emulate in the online setting, particularly for students who would not normally choose to learn online. It is particularly challenging to foster the perception of connectedness to the institution (not just to peers) in the online setting because of the asynchronous and geographically distanced nature of students' interactions with faculty and other students, and activities that have historically cultivated institutional connectedness are challenging to emulate online. Institutions will likely continue to struggle with retention at the same rate unless they can identify and implement effective strategies that support institutional connectedness.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationship among a synchronous approach to instruction, students' perceptions of institutional connectedness, and retention in online

programs. It seems a bit ironic to explore connectedness during the COVID-19 pandemic. At a time in the world when people are re-examining the importance of connectedness and struggling with feelings of isolation, a study that investigates how academic experiences relate to connectedness can feel incongruous with circumstances. However, the pandemic also provides a unique opportunity to understand connection in the online environment as institutions face pressure to transition more instruction to online in an attempt to increase enrollment. Understanding how institutional connectedness relates to retention for all students (not only those who prefer to learn online) can provide insight for institutions that seek to move face-to-face instruction to an online format. Additionally, developing a deeper understanding of how synchronous instruction contributes to institutional connectedness in the online setting can help universities make instructional design decisions that cultivate a stronger sense of institutional connectedness with the goal of increasing student retention in the end.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

This study used quantitative survey data to investigate the relationship between synchronous instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention in the online setting. The specific questions explored in this study are as follows.

Research Questions

- 1. What is the relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connection to the institution?
- 2. What is the relationship between a sense of connection to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution?
- 3. What is the relationship between synchronous online instruction and intent to continue coursework at the institution?

To explore these questions, hypotheses for this study focus on the relationships among three variables: synchronous instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention. Specifically, the hypotheses for this study are as follows.

Synchronous instruction and institutional connectedness

H1₀: There is no relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connectedness to their institution.

H1_A: There is a relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connectedness to their institution.

Institutional connectedness and retention

 $H2_0$: There is no relationship between a sense of connectedness to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution.

 $H2_A$: There is a relationship between sense of connectedness to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution.

Synchronous instruction and retention

H3₀: Students that participate in synchronous online instruction are equally or less likely to continue coursework in future terms.

H3_A: Students that participate in synchronous online instruction are more likely to continue coursework in future terms.

Significance of the Study

The importance of connectedness is not a novel idea. Studies have long suggested that there is a positive correlation between student success in the distance education setting and the students' sense of community within individual courses (Garrison et al., 2010; Rovai, 2009; Skinner, 2007; Zawacki-Richter & Anderson, 2014). The details of this relationship have been explored to a significant extent, and they continue to be explored as new instructional tools and techniques are created for distance classrooms. However, the cultivation of community within individual classrooms does not appear to be sufficient for a satisfying student experience (Glazer & Wanstreet, 2011; Rovai, Wighting, & Jing, 2005; Shin, 2002) and, in many cases, retention (Horn, 2014; Tinto, 2012; Wilson et al., 2020; Wilson, Gore, Renfro, Blake, Muncie, & Treadway, 2018).

Satisfaction is not where the problem with connectedness ends. Despite the relative growth of online education, researchers caution institutional leaders not to draw optimistic conclusions about retention issues in the distance classroom-based comparisons with retention in face-to-face settings (Allen & Seaman, 2015); retention in the distance setting appears to be complex in nature, and retention results that are presented in some reports do not address underlying factors that may be significant to the online environment.

In addition to the student benefits, satisfaction and retention are rewarding for institutions, whether in a face-to-face or distance setting. According to several researchers (McDearmon, 2010; Monks, 2003; Tsao & Coll, 2005), students who feel connected to their institution, are satisfied with their educational experience, and remain enrolled are also more likely to contribute financially to their institution. A study published in 2010 by Kim, Chang, and Jae Ko reiterated this as well, stating that "alumni who identified more strongly with their university donated more financially and participated more frequently in the recruitment of students" (p. 414). For higher education institutions in the current competitive market, helping students feel connected has financial benefits beyond continued tuition payments.

Studies focused specifically on distance settings also suggest that a sense of connectedness beyond a student's individual relationships with others is important for academic

student success, as well (Glazer & Wanstreet, 2011; Rovai et al., 2005; Shin, 2002; Zawacki-Richter & Anderson, 2014). This sense of connectedness, some researchers speculate, may be increased by the easy availability of student services or specific programmatic features (Shin, 2002; Zawacki-Richter & Anderson, 2014); however, it is unclear what structural factors within the program or institution, if any, directly support a sense of connectedness in reliable ways. The diversity of institutional structures, program offerings, institutional cultures, and student profiles make an exploration in this area difficult, particularly in online programs that vary so greatly from one another.

As a result of the limited conversation around connectedness at the institutional level in online education, the recommended strategies for addressing this issue have been limited in effectiveness. So far, these strategies have been based largely on instructional strategies to help students build relationships with other individuals. These strategies are effective to a degree, but as students transition out of classrooms or into new communities at the end of each term, the strategies employed within the individual classroom are no longer relevant in the new setting, and the students' sense of connection may be interrupted.

With the goal of retention in mind and widespread enrollment challenges in higher education, the goal of helping students feel connected to their institutions is critical, and the movement of the COVID-19 pandemic through the United States in 2020 has only increased the level of urgency. A survey by Garcia, Adkins, and Bohlig (2020) at the Center for Community College Student Engagement collected responses from 13,000 students nationwide regarding the impact of COVID-19 on their college experience and concerns they have that may interfere with their ability to succeed. Among other topics addressed, 75% of the students noted that feelings of isolation were a concern. Of those who held jobs prior to the pandemic, 61% indicated that

they had less work available, and 7% reported job loss (Garcia, Adkins, & Bohlig, 2020). Not surprisingly, the Association of American Colleges and Universities noted that these challenges in particular can cause students to drop out (Garcia et al., 2020).

As institutions expand online learning to mitigate the health risks of COVID-19, it is important to make sure that the strategies selected actually support students' connections with their institutions in an effort to help students persist through their coursework. This is especially true for students who do not prefer online learning but are in the online setting due to COVID because they may struggle feeling connected with the institution in an online setting.

Definition of Terms

There are a variety of ways experts define and describe concepts related to connectedness, which seems to contribute to the ambiguity and lack of information in this area. To bring clarity to the discussion for the purpose of this study, working definitions will be used for "social connectedness" and "institutional connectedness." For the purposes of this study, social connectedness refers to a students' perception of a shared relationship with other individuals (students, faculty, and staff) at a university. Other related terms from literature are "belonging" and "community." In this study, this could include students, faculty, and staff.

Likewise, an individual's perception of a shared relationship with (and personal tie to) the institutional organization as a whole (which includes individuals the student may not know personally) is institutional connectedness. Related terms from literature are "identification," "organizational identification," and to a certain extent, "Identity Fusion." In this study, institutional connectedness generally refers to a sense of relationship between a student and the organization overall.

Due to the plethora of variations in instructional approaches, it is also worth defining "synchronous" and "asynchronous" instruction. For the purpose of this study, synchronous instruction includes live group activities, typically including faculty, in which students are required to participate. In online courses, synchronous activities commonly take place over a video conferencing platform (e.g., Zoom, Google Meet). Asynchronous activities are those that require students to complete work independently and at a time of their choosing (often within a defined period). Asynchronous activities often include discussion boards, papers, video presentations, and other assignments students can complete without the live participation of others.

It is important to note that some synchronous work does not require a large group or the presence of a faculty member. Live small group discussions, projects completed with a partner, and virtual office hours are variations of synchronous work that do not require large group engagement. While these are in fact synchronous in nature, this synchronous activity type is not the focus of the paper. Rather, the term synchronous focused in this study on larger group activities that include a faculty member.

Finally, retention refers to the continuation of a student's enrollment from one semester to the next. While broader definitions on enrollment might include cases where a student temporarily un-enrolls for a term to travel or work before returning the following term, "retention" in this paper only describes cases where students take courses continuously, without stopping enrollment (even temporarily).

Organization of the Remainder of the Study

This study is organized into five chapters. The first chapter has introduced the purpose and research questions of the study, and described the current significance of this study in

synchronous instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention. The second chapter outlines literature already available on the retention, connectedness, and synchronous learning. Chapter Two also describes areas where further research could contribute to online education. The methodology of this study is outlined in Chapter Three along with a description of the instrument used (2020 Campus Life Survey at Bethel University). It presents a rationale for using an existing data set obtained during campus closure due to the COVID-19 pandemic and an explanation of the data analysis plan. The fourth chapter outlines the results of the survey relative to the questions of this study, and Chapter Five discusses those results and their implications for higher education.

Chapter II: Review of Literature

History of Distance Education

Distance education began in the early to mid-1800s with the invention of the telegraph and telephone, which provided students with the opportunity to connect with instructors at a distance (Harasim, 2000). In the United States and in combination with the U.S. Postal Service, distance learning became a particularly popular option for office secretaries who sought certification for their positions by sending samples of their work to an institution in Ohio. These programs were popular and useful, but distance education did not become academically recognized by formal higher education institutions until 1892 when the University of Chicago formalized the first, formal learning program at the college level (Casey, 2008). Students in this program communicated with instructors through the mail as they completed their degrees independently. From then until the 1940,s radio increased instructor immediacy (or the student's sense of connection with a teacher) as institutions applied for radio licenses from the Federal Trade Commission to use as an instructional strategy that could augment the colleges' mailbased programs (Casey, 2008). In this model, distance education was a one-on-one experience for learners as they interacted with instructors through the mail and accessed content through books and over the air in independent learning experiences that relied on one-way communication methods.

In 1967, Otto Peters, the Deputy Director of the Department of Methodology of Teaching at the Educational Center in Berlin, Germany, noted deficiencies in efficiency and quality in distance education. Comparing the distance education model to manufacturing, Peters (1967) suggested a more "industrialized" approach to the creation and delivery of. Peters's suggestion paved the way for an entirely new way of thinking about distance education. While it had been

costly, inefficient, and isolating, Peters' work urged educators to begin visualizing distance courses for the first time as a classroom containing groups of students with needs that could be met in similar ways. This industrialized model allowed a streamlined approach to course development and understanding about distance learning, and it served as the foundation for discussions about consistency and quality in course design and assessment. While it was not his primary intention, Peters's concept of industrialization would improve the overall distance education experience for students and highlight the need students have for a sense of connectedness for distance learners.

As the programs grew in popularity and stature, many academic leaders questioned the viability, impact, and quality of distance programs. Previously, distance courses and traditional courses had been vastly different in many ways as they were adapted for individual learners. With the advent of the Internet, distance education had the capacity for the first time to transition distance students to a new format of learning. Classrooms were no longer limited to an individualized, one-on-one format; instructors and students could now interact in a collaborative manner similar to the face-to-face setting.

Through the development of online education during the early 2000s, higher education enrollment grew. This new, streamlined, and exciting way of delivering education allowed institutions to grow online programs quickly and deliver instruction to larger groups of students. Students who could not typically be able to attend courses on campus due to work or family commitments could enroll. Over time, the flexibility of online learning and the resulting enrollment of "non-traditional" students who would not otherwise be able to enroll changed the overall enrollment patterns and curricular needs in higher education. However, the growth trend of higher education did not continue.

In a summary of higher education enrollment issues, Copley and Douthett (2020) noted that from 2011 to 2019, higher education enrollment in the United States fell each year, dipping below 18 million enrollments in 2019 for the first time in a decade. Unfortunately, the trend will likely continue in the near future rather than improve. Birthrates fell significantly between 2008-2011, causing a coming decrease in college-age students, and immigration has decreased since 1991. These reductions in population groups that are the largest target market for colleges and universities will limit the number of students in the United States that are eligible to enroll. The problem is expected to continue, with enrollment continuing its decline through at least 2029 due to a 15% projected decrease in college-age population during that time (Copley & Douthett, 2020; National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2019).

Despite the continuing general enrollment decline in higher education over the past several years, distance education specifically has continued to grow when compared with face-to-face offerings (Allen & Seaman, 2017). These growth trends appear to be reaching a plateau compared to the rates at which they have been growing in previous years, but researchers encourage institutions not to be fooled by the slowdown. The plateau is one of growth, not in overall enrollment; institutions continue to enroll online students at a steady increase each year. In a study released in 2017, Allan and Seaman noted that almost 30% of higher education students had participated in at least one online course. Almost 15% of the students studied were enrolled in fully online programs, with undergraduate students representing the majority of the cases included (Allen & Seaman, 2017). Ironically, despite the relative increase in online learning, researchers report that online programs also have higher attrition rates than traditional programs (Hart, 2012; Stone & Springer, 2019; Wilson et al., 2020), which creates a challenge for these programs to maintain the enrollment they have managed to secure in the first place.

The continued growth in online program enrollments is important to note especially in comparison to significant decreases in higher education enrollment overall (Allen & Seaman, 2017). Enticed by higher enrollment, the majority of higher education institutions now utilize distance programs as a central part of a strategic enrollment plan (Allen & Seaman, 2016). While the higher enrollments for online learning are encouraging, retention rates remain a challenge that online programs experience even more significantly than face-to-face programs.

Impact of COVID on Higher Education

COVID-related enrollment and retention issues.

The enrollment trends leading up to 2019 were already declining, and then a global pandemic took place. In 2020, with the COVID-19 global pandemic surging, more than 1,300 higher education institutions closed their doors, either cancelling classes or offering instruction online with little warning (Smalley, 2020). Higher education administrators have faced unprecedented declines in freshmen enrollment, with traditional undergraduate rates dropping 0.4% at public universities and 3.8% in private universities. Community colleges saw the greatest decline, dipping 8% in enrollment rates (Lorin, 2020; National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2019).

These pandemic-related declines augment the troubling issue of enrollment, but an even more concerning metric demonstrates a specific issue with enrollment declines. When comparing enrollment patterns among students who just graduated from high school (or "immediate enrollments"), it is clear that some student groups have avoided enrollment more than others (Hoover, 2020). The reason is unclear, but the numbers are troubling. The 2020 enrollment report from the National Student Clearinghouse Research Center (NSC) indicated that minority students and those with low or no income experienced a significant drop in

enrollment in comparison with drops noted across the board. These declines are also significant in combination with enrollment declines in the same student groups in 2019. In 2019, immediate enrollment declined 1.1% in students from high minority schools, 1.2% in students from low income schools, and 2.0% in students from high poverty schools. However, in 2020, immediate enrollment declined 26.4% in high minority schools, 29.2% in low income schools, and 32.6% in high poverty schools (Hoover, 2020; National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2020). Compared with the now 13% decline in immediate enrollment across the board, these numbers indicate that the pandemic has impacted enrollment unevenly across the population.

Unfortunately, immediate enrollment declines in these student groups do not reflect "gap year" decisions. In higher income and low minority groups, students can sometimes defer enrollment and still successfully enroll in a college or university later. Students in minority groups or with low (or no) income typically do not enroll unless they enroll immediately (Hoover, 2020).

It is important to note that while enrollment has fallen steeply during COVID across the board, online programs continue to grow in enrollment. The NSC reported in 2020 that while enrollment suffers in traditional colleges and universities, institutions with primarily online enrollments have actually increased 6.1% as compared with 2019 enrollments. Part-time undergraduate and full-time graduate students contributed most significantly to the increase (June, 2020; National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2020). Competition for enrollments in higher education has become fierce, and the only sector that is succeeding currently is online.

Enrollment and retention declines make an institution's ability to retain already-enrolled students of utmost importance. If colleges and universities cannot enroll students sufficiently,

losing students in attrition becomes a critical second problem that can impact revenue and eventually the viability of the institution. To combat this, universities across the nation responded to the pandemic-related campus closures by transitioning courses from a face-to-face format to online. Knowing that critical retention issues could result from student satisfaction problems if students were not satisfied with instruction, faculty experimented with strategies and technologies that could help them deliver their content engagingly and meaningfully.

COVID-related changes in instructional strategies.

When institutions across the United States closed in March 2020 due to the surging pandemic, they hoped to re-open a few short weeks later. However, rather than returning to instruction as usual, they resumed instruction in an online format, using synchronous and asynchronous teaching strategies to support student learning (Quezada, 2020). For many institutions, transition to online meant urging faculty to replace face-to-face sessions with other synchronous, large-group opportunities (i.e., Zoom meetings) with the goal of simulating the experience students had been having on campus.

This transition to synchronous sessions came with mixed feedback, however. A study focused on the experiences of teacher education students at a California liberal arts college, asked students about their preferences around synchronous meetings revealed that many students strongly preferred to continue seeing classmates in regular synchronous meetings rather than working asynchronously, as it increased their sense of connection and reduced their sense of isolation (Quezada, 2020). Students requested more synchronous time with faculty and peers than what was required because they felt it was helpful overall. Faculty agreed that synchronous sessions were useful, reporting that synchronous teaching felt like the most effective format when considering the iterative and relational aspect of teaching and learning (Quezada, 2020).

Interestingly, the study in California (Quezada, 2020) contradicts the findings of an earlier study. In this study, 160 students participated in an online technology course, which included in-synchronous meetings. Participants completed a survey, and those who participated in synchronous activities completed an additional interview. The feedback from students in this study suggested that online learning, even when it includes synchronous activities, fosters a sense of disconnectedness for students (Offir, Lev, & Bezalel, 2008). One possible reason for this contradiction is that technology used for synchronous sessions in 2008 was quite limited compared to the technology available for such activities in 2020. Technological limitations have been known to create a sense of increased distance rather than increased proximity, which could explain the differences in student responses.

However, the 2008 findings cannot be entirely dismissed. Similar to the 2008 findings, a 2020 survey of the students at Okanagan, a college located in British Columbia, revealed that students struggled more with motivation and a sense of connectedness with others and the institution when instruction moved from the classroom to online (Day, 2021). The contradiction in data regarding the relationship between synchronous instructional activities and institutional connectedness suggests it would be helpful to investigate the relationship further.

Problems in Connectedness and Retention

Sense of institutional connectedness.

One of the significant challenges that online education faces is the ability to help students feel connected in meaningful ways to other individuals and to the institution as a whole. "University connectedness," (or "institutional connectedness" in this paper) is the student's perception that they belong at an institution, and that their presence is valued and important there (Dingel & Sage, 2016; Goodenow, 1993; Hotchkiss, Moore, & Pitts, 2006). Distinct from a

sense of connectedness with peers in the institution, this recent concept is challenging to define and demonstrate clearly.

As such, institutional connectedness has been a recent topic of research in the field of education because of its suspected positive benefits. Literature to this point has demonstrated that students with a strong sense of connection to the institution can positively impact their attitude toward learning and their intention to continue with coursework (i.e., persist) (Horn, 2014; Hotchkiss et al., 2006; Tinto, 2012; Wilson et al., 2018; Wilson et al., 2020).

While this sounds promising, it is a particular challenge for institutions that deliver online instruction because institutional connectedness is impacted by program modality. A 2020 study by Wilson, Gore, and Williamson explored the relationship between students' perception of institutional connectedness and program modality. The researchers gathered data from 534 undergraduate students in a variety of face-to-face, online, and blended programs at a university in the Southeastern United States. In this study, students completed a survey that measured their Psychological Sense of School Membership and also asked about program modality. This study demonstrated that students who take all of their courses online have a weaker sense of institutional connectedness than their peers who are taking some or no courses online (Wilson et al., 2020).

Retention.

An additional 2020 study by Wilson, Gore, and Williamson at the Southeastern University referenced previously explored the relationship between students' institutional connectedness and their intent to re-enroll. In this survey, 261 students from a variety of face-toface, online, and blended programs completed a survey that inquired about continued enrollment plans and measured their Psychological Sense of School Membership. This study replicated the

researchers' earlier findings that students in fully online programs have a weaker sense of institutional connectedness, but surprisingly showed that there is no relationship between program modality (face-to-face, online, blended) and intention to persist with coursework. However, for both online and face-to-face students, a sense of institutional connectedness correlated significantly with students' intention to persist (Wilson et al., 2020).

With the decline in enrollment in higher education and the high value of retention, this is a significant challenge. It is particularly challenging for online programs for two reasons. First, retention is already a significant struggle for primarily online institutions as compared with traditional campuses, making the problem larger and more difficult to address in the first place. Second, students are likely to experience a weaker sense of institutional connectedness just because of the online modality. This undercuts the positive impact that institutional connectedness typically makes toward retention.

Problem summary.

Unfortunately, for institutions that typically deliver instruction on campus but are now offering courses at a distance due to COVID, the connectedness and retention issues are particularly unfamiliar and painful. With pressure to survive financially through a pandemic that has steepened enrollment and retention issues, faculty and administrators who offer instruction online need to consider instructional approaches that will support students' sense of institutional connectedness and increase retention. With a better understanding of the instructional approaches that support institutional connectedness and retention, institutions may be able to retain students more successfully during the pandemic. Additionally, institutions that offer primarily online instruction will be able to benefit long term as they apply the understanding to their regular current practices.

It is possible that synchronous offerings can support institutional connectedness because they mirror face-to-face instruction by bringing students and faculty together in the same time and "place" for learning. It is also possible that if students have an increased sense of institutional connectedness due to synchronous sessions, they may be more likely to persist, raising the retention rates for programs. However, this question needs further investigation. And given the pandemic as well as the overall shift of enrollments toward online education, it should be investigated with students who are both likely to enroll in face-to-face as well as online. This investigation requires a foundational understanding of the history of students' perception of connectedness within the distance education setting, the psychological underpinnings of connection, and strategies that may address the psychological need for connection.

Theoretical Foundation for Social Connectedness

The idea of helping students feel connected with others at the university is not new. When distance education started, educators speculated that students struggled feeling connected to others at the university, and that this perception a result of instructional strategies and course design features. As distance education became popular, distance educators embraced the new opportunities available through technology, and the interactive nature of distance courses became a distinguishing feature between "distance" courses and "correspondence" courses (McIssac, Blocher, Mahes, Vrasidas, 1999, p. 122), which continued to rely on the U.S. mail and instructional methods that did not require interaction between learners. With students required to interact on a regular basis through a newly collaborative learning setting, academic leaders began to think about how to meet distance students' social needs for healthy interactions in addition to the cognitive needs as well.

Social presence and sense of community.

One of the early perspectives that provided an understanding of individuals' interactions with others was the Social Presence Theory. In 1976, Short, Williams, and Christie described social presence as "the degree of salience of the other person in the interaction and the consequent salience of interpersonal relationships" (p. 65). Following their work, which provided a basic definition for the theory to begin with, educational researchers applied the Social Presence Theory to course design as they sought to understand more about how individuals relate to one another whether together in person or relating at a distance.

This Social Presence Theory was beneficial for helping instructors support a sense of connectedness in student groups that were learning in the same physical location. However, the original theory is limited in its applicability to online settings. This is due to the fact that students learning in an online setting cannot rely on physical proximity for a sense of connection. Additionally, interactions between classmates are often asynchronous, which removes a sense of proximity in time as well.

While Social Presence Theory researchers focused on interactions between individuals within individual courses, others focused on interactions between individuals and groups. In 1986, McMillan and Chavis proposed the Sense of Community Theory, intended to describe the critical elements of effective communities. Based on a review of recent literature regarding communication, social organization, and community involvement, the theory evolved over several years before coming to publication. McMillan and Chavis' Sense of Community Theory consisted of four elements: membership, influence, integration and fulfillment of needs, and shared emotional connection (McMillan & Chavis, 1986, p. 9). As a combination of these four elements, McMillan and Chavis concluded that the clearest definition of a Sense of Community

is "a feeling that members have of belonging, a feeling that members matter to one another and to the group, and a shared faith that members' needs will be met through their commitment to be together" (McMillan & Chavis, 1986, p. 9).

The Sense of Community Theory is regarded as a major source of social understanding in distance education research. However, it has not been without its critiques. The original version of the construct was conceptualized specifically for physical communities of individuals, and the elements of the construct were conceived with the assumption that individuals could draw from shared personal relationships (McMillan & Chavis, 1986). This limited the applicability of the construct for the distance education setting, and the Sense of Community scale (Sense of Community Index, or SCI) used to measure community was not valid for virtual communities. Given these limitations, educational researchers continued refining their understanding of presence and connection for application to the online setting.

By the late 1990s, social presence, sense of community, and learner connectedness in the distance setting had become a topic of interest for many educational researchers in distance programming due to its obvious importance in the setting. In 2000, Garrison, Anderson, and Archer proposed the *Community of Inquiry* model for distance education. This landmark model provided a preliminary framework for analyzing the role that each of these presences play in the distance setting and their importance in the distance education field. Since the original model proposal, additional validation of the *Community of Inquiry* has confirmed the importance of Social Presence as it relates to the achievement of learning outcomes and the development of relationships in the distance setting (Garrison et al., 2010; Rovai, 2009; Skinner, 2007).

The *Community of Inquiry* model suggested that an effective distance classroom included three domains, or "Presences." Two of the presences were the Cognitive Presence (reflecting the

content expressed in the course) and the Teaching Presence (reflecting the instructional design of the course, or the structure through which the content is delivered). Along with these two domains, the original version of this model included Social Presence as one of the three basic domains of effective distance instruction. Garrison and Archer (2001) defined social presence in this model as the "ability of learners to project themselves (i.e., their personal characteristics) socially and emotionally, thereby representing themselves as 'real' people, in a community of inquiry" (Moore, 2013, p. 107). Interestingly, Garrison et al. commented in a 2010 review of the 2001 work that when crafting the model, their greatest concern about their model's viability was in regard to a social presence. This was due to the emphasis that had been placed on social presence leading up to the time of their original study and their opinion that research, to that point, had neglected the interplay of the cognitive and teaching presence domains, which they felt were required for an accurate picture of social presence (2010).

In Garrison, Anderson, and Archer's 2010 review of the original *Community of Inquiry* model, the researchers noted that there is more work to be done in understanding the relationship between Sense of Presence and other presences as described in the model. In fact, the 2010 review of the model suggested some possible modifications to the model, including the addition of some behavioral categories within the domain (i.e., open communication and group cohesion) and stated that some evidence indicates that students prefer developing a "shared social identity" in a formal distance course over personal relationships, which is defined as a shared understanding of the purpose of the course (Garrison et al., 2010, p. 7). Garrison suggested al. (2010) suggested that social presence, while still addressing the same categorical dimensions as they had originally perceived, is likely more accurately described in terms of identification,

communication, and relationships; they contended that these terms were present in the original model concept but had not been made clear (Garrison et al., 2010, p. 7).

In some cases, the lack of conceptual clarity has made it challenging to apply the model consistently and effectively. Depending on the situation, researchers have suggested adjustments to the *Community of Inquiry Theory* for their setting, purpose, or population. For example, researchers disagree on the exact definition of Social Presence as it applies to distance learning. More specifically, Gunawardena (1995) noted that while social presence is based on objective factors, it is ultimately subjective and perceptual. Garrison, Anderson, and Archer suggested that social presence is effective when inclusive of cognitive and teaching presences (Garrison et al., 2000). Tu and McIsaac (2002) drew a connection between social presence and a sense of community by stating that the theory is characterized by feelings of community or belongingness a learner experiences in the classroom. Each of these definitions highlight a different aspect of Social Presence as is relevant to the perspective most helpful in the setting, and it is unclear which aspects of Social Presence represent the central definition of the theory.

Regardless of the theory definition, however, it seems clear that many researchers agree on a few basic commonalities when describing the overall theory of Social Presence. First, Social Presence encompasses the interaction between individuals that personally know one another (Biocca, Harms, & Gregg, 2001; Garrison et al., 2000; Gunawardena, 1995). Second, Social Presence also encompasses a student's sense of connectedness with other students (Biocca et al., 2001; Garrison et al., 2010; Tu & McIsaac, 2002). Third, the inclusion of Social Presence in course design is a critical component of effective course planning in order to meet the social needs of students within the course (Garrison et al., 2000, 2010).
Problems with Social Presence and Sense of Community theories.

While there does not seem to be consistent agreement throughout literature as to the definition of Social Presence, how it relates to a sense of community, or which construct applies most effectively to the sense of connections students experience with one another and their institution in the distance setting, researchers do seem to agree on two basic, overarching ideas that help to frame the discussion. First, before its application to the field of distance education, researchers understood Social Presence to be a combination of the awareness of others during interactions and the appreciation of the interaction, itself (Garrison et al., 2000, 2010; Rice, 1993; Short et al., 1976). This theme represents a broader and more generalized conceptualization of the sense of connection students might experience with one another and with their institution, and provides a wider basis of explaining issues students experience with connection. Second, despite the possibility of examining connection more generally, researchers also perceive the Social Presence and connection constructs as being conceptually complex because it is a measurement of the subjective student experience, which is ultimately a matter of perception (Gunawardena, 1995; Tu & McIsaac, 2002). This is particularly challenging given the variety of students and institutions wrestling with the need for connectedness, and the complexity appears to be true even if specific qualities or attributes can be identified as contributing to connection in a specific institutional setting (Gunawardena, 1995).

In discussing the complexity of the Social Presence construct, Rovai (2002, 2009) moved away from focusing on the "social presence" terminology and focused more on "sense of community," an applied notion of the theory as it relates to distance course participants. This definition resonates with Tu and McIsaac's research in 2002 as they explored social presence applied to distance education settings, as well. The work of these researchers suggests that a

sense of community among course participants can be cultivated by specific instructional techniques utilized in the course design or instructional methodology within individual classrooms. Furthermore, a strong sense of community in individual classrooms ultimately increases student success and retention in a higher education program overall (Rovai, 2002, 2009; Tu & McIsaac, 2002).

Shin (2002) offered a transition away from confusing (and sometimes conflicting) terms for distance educators who struggle to cultivate connectedness, stating that connectedness is "the belief or feeling that a reciprocal relationship exists between two or more parties involving an individual's subjective judgement on the extent of the engagement with which he or she is concerned" (p. 123). Shin suggested that the student encounters three types of relationships which contribute to an overall sense of connectedness during the student's academic experience: the student-student relationship, the student-teacher relationship, and the student-institution relationship. According to Shin, support for these relationships includes characteristics of course design and student services (2002, p. 131).

Shin (2002) extended observations about relational experiences in the educational setting to a new framework, "Transactional Presence," which assumes that a student's needs for connection during the learning process are much more comprehensive than previously thought. Shin suggested that distance institutions

go beyond merely envisioning [the students'] geographic locations (telepresence) or feeling intimacy or togetherness in terms of sharing time and place. Rather, the perception should reflect, in some way, distance students' idiosyncratic needs for connection with learning resources of support that they can turn to as the needs arises (2002, p. 122).

To illustrate the expanse of the connectedness concept suggested, Shin (2002) outlined examples of connectedness issues and opportunities in the broader institutional context. This important work finally illustrates the idea that students' sense of connection is not only impacted by course-based experiences, but also by the broader institutional experience they have with people and structures outside of individual courses. Shin's work stopped short of describing specific institutional actions or attributes that would contribute to students' sense of connectedness, citing this as an area that could yet be explored.

Theoretical Foundation for Institutional Connectedness

Identification.

While distance education experts have heavily explored Social Presence and Sense of Community theories as strategies for building a sense of connectedness in the learner's program experience, a few theories relevant to group alignment, belonging, commitment, and connectedness have remained largely unexplored in relation to distance education. Rather than describing the observable function and organization of group members within their environments, some psychological researchers have focused on the development of individuals' identities and the responses of personal and social identities in certain circumstances. These researchers use psychological constructs such as Social Identification, Organizational Identification, Self-Verification, and Identity Fusion to describe the individual group members' experiences relative to the group with the goal of explaining and predicting behavioral patterns.

Social identification.

Tajfel and Turner's 1979 Social Identification Theory proposed that individuals will categorize themselves and others into groups and then "identify" with the groups they are associated with by taking on the identity of those groups and aligning behaviorally to match the

group. In most cases, this leads to favorable attention for those who an individual perceives are in a "group" with them and negative attention for those classified outsides of those groups.

Mael and Ashforth (1992) expanded Tajfel and Turner's explanation of Social Identification Theory, stating that social identification "is the perception of belongingness to a group classification" (p. 104). They found that when an individual identifies with a group, he or she perceives himself or herself as a prototypical version of the group, exemplifying the group's characteristics and values and sharing the group's fate (Mael & Ashforth, 1992). Ashforth and Mael (1989) also wrote that the factors traditionally associated with group formation (social identification) are not necessary for group formation but still may affect the formation process if not included in a suitable way (p. 35).

Organizational identification.

One of the settings in which social identification can specifically be applied is within the organization. Ashforth and Mael (1989, 1992) studied the application of identification constructs in organizations, eventually crafting the "Organizational Identification" Theory. Ashforth and Mael noted that even though identification is a familiar construct, very few people had completed research on it in the organizational setting. While identification overall is familiar, organizations have experienced significant confusion between organizational identification and internalization, as well as organizational identification and commitment to an organization.

In this construct, psychologists distinguish between organizational identification and professional (or occupational) identification, in which an individual defines him or herself in terms of the characteristics or actions done by people in a specific profession (Mael & Ashforth, 1992, p. 106). In their 1992 study, Mael and Ashforth distinguished between organizational identification, internalization, and commitment. They described internalization as a construct

that refers to the actual "incorporation of values and assumptions within the self as guiding principles" and identification as a construct that refers to the perception of one's social classification (p. 105).

In addition to causing group members to experience feelings of gain through an attachment with their group, Organizational Identification also claims that a group member who has identified with the group and then leaves will experience a sense of loss over the transition away from the group (Ashforth & Mael, 1989)

Organizational Identification has appeared to be a promising perspective for organizational leaders interested in pro-group behaviors and retention. In a 1992 study of 297 alumni at a religious college in the Northeastern United States, alumni revealed possible antecedents and consequences of their identification with the organization (Mael & Ashforth, 1992). The study found that students who have identified with the program or the institution and become alumni report higher satisfaction and are more likely than others to be interested in supporting the institution in a variety of ways.

Mael and Ashforth (1992) encouraged supporting the identification of process through a variety of ways, including "the manipulation of symbols such as traditions, myths, metaphors, rituals, sagas, heroes, and physical setting, management can make the individual's membership salient and provide compelling images of what the [...] organization represents" (Ashforth & Mael, 1992, p. 28). The identification of alumni with their alma mater will increase the likelihood that alumni will donate personal funds to the school, participate in institution events, and recommend that others attend the institution (Mael & Ashforth, 1992). The identification of alumni with their alma mater personal funds to the school personal funds to the school personal funds.

to the school, participate in institution events, and recommend that others attend the institution (Mael & Ashforth, 1992).

The construct of identification in general is a helpful approach to understanding students' connection to their schools and positive outcomes from that connection. Additionally, however, there is a more specific identification-based construct, Identity Fusion, that researchers have recently begun to explore in relation to connectedness and retention. To best understand this construct, it may be helpful to look back at the construct's beginning decades ago.

Self-verification and Identity Fusion.

Around the time that the Social Identity Theory was being formed, a team of researchers in Texas began to explore people's self-perception in relation to others. In 1981, Swann , Gomez, Seyle, Morales, and Huici (2009) identified and described the Self-Verification Theory. In this theory, Swann et al. suggested that people want to be known and understood by others as they already understand themselves, even if their self-perception is negative. However, their understanding of themselves is largely based on how they have been initially treated by others. From this framework, people perceive the world and make decisions about behavior. Self-Verification was shown through several studies to have significant ramifications for the success of relationships in many contexts (Swann et al., 2009). According to Swann et al., this theory can be extended to groups relationships, in which individuals seek verification of their selfperceptions, both positive and negative, from groups of people with whom they work and relate. In some cases, researchers found that individuals also sought verification for the specific identity they express with (Chen, Chen, & Shaw, 2004) or for the collective characteristics of the group they are associated with (Lemay & Ashmore, 2004).

Interested in the interactions of the social and personal identities of fused individuals within the larger context of a group, Swann et al. (2009) expanded their focus to explore how Self-Verification related to the way an individual's personal and social identities interact. The researchers found that individuals demonstrate varying degrees of identification with groups and that the resulting pro-group behaviors were also variable (Swann et al., 2009). This led Swann et al. to draw a distinction between familiar forms of identification and new concept of identification they called Identity Fusion. In their proposal of the new concept, Swann et al. distinguished between Identity Fusion and other social identification theories, proposing the distinguishing feature of Identity Fusion was a unique interplay of the personal and social identifies.

Non-fused individuals, they suggested, may identify with a group through selfcategorization, social identity, and self-verification processes (Swann et al., 2009, p. 996). As Turner had suggested (1985), this allows individuals to perceive themselves as symbolic or prototypical members of the group, emulating the characteristics and values of the group and sharing in the group's fate. In the case of identification, the personal identity and the social identity function separately, salient at different times and for different purposes. However, Swann et al. suggested that in some cases, individuals' "stable conceptions of themselves as individuals become fused with their identities as group members," as a result of a process called "Identity Fusion" (Swann et al., 2009, p. 995). In this process, the personal and social identities become activated together as "fused" individuals do not distinguish between personal identity and social identity. This causes a "unique state of oneness with a group, a state that is categorically distinct from the state of nonfusion" (Swann et al., 2009, p. 1000). Swann et al. referred to individuals with a "blurred" or permeable boundary between their personal and social

identities as individuals who are "fused" to a larger group. Those whose social and personal identities were distinct from one another are referred to as "non-fused" (Swann et al., 2009).

Because there is little division between their personal and social identities, activation of one or the other actually activates both identities. The individual's responses related to the group are borne from both the personal and the social identities rather than one or the other because both identities are equally salient during the response. This is in direct comparison to individuals who are non-fused but have still identified psychologically with a group; in these cases, personal and social responses alternate in levels of salience according to the requirements of the situation.

Swann et al. noted that when a fused individual's social and personal identities have been activated and the individual is acting on behalf of the group, the individual is more likely to display pro-group behavior (2009, p. 999), enduring significant challenges with the perception that the outcome will benefit the group. In a study conducted by Swann et al., \survey participants were asked to respond to extreme pro-group behaviors through a series of hypothetical questions both before and after experimental challenges intended to activate their personal or social identities. Questions focused on individuals' willingness to participate in and endorse extreme behaviors for the benefit of the group and/or individuals in the group (i.e., willingness to fight and die for others or sacrifice something for the well-being of the group or another individual in the group). The study indicated a positive correlation between fusion and willingness to endorse or participate in extreme pro-group behaviors; identification showed no clear correlation (Swann et al., 2009). It also indicated that for individuals in a state of fusion, the personal and social identities of individuals are integrated in such a way that activating one form of identity in an individual in turn activates the other; the study suggests that a fused

individual only requires activation of one identity before their other identity can activate and increase their likelihood of endorsement of pro-group behavior.

In 2020, a team of researchers from the University of Texas (Austin) completed a largescale study that explored Identity Fusion in students within the university setting (Talafir, 2020). Given previous studies on identity fusion that suggest that individuals who are fused with a group will endure through significant hardship in order to remain in the group, Talafir hypothesized that fusion could positively predict strong academic achievement and retention. In their study, 5,722 freshmen completed a pre-matriculation survey that measured students' perception of identity fusion with the university prior to matriculating. The researchers collected GPA and retention information from those students over two semesters. Finally, 875 students completed the survey again during a general education psychology course, allowing researchers to compare perceptions and make correlations with historical data about retention and achievement (Talafir, 2020).

The data from this study showed that students who reported a strong sense of identification (or identity fusion, in this case) with their university were 7%-9% more likely to re-enroll in future semesters, which is a clear and important conclusion from this study (Talafir, 2020). Unlike traditional retention measures that have focused on removing or resolving situational barriers that prevent students from continuing (Tinto, 1971; Yeager, Walton, Brady, Akcinar, Paunesku, Keane, & Dweck, 2016), this study suggested that an "asset-promoting approach" to retention may be more effective and longer lasting because students who experience identity fusion with their university are likely to express loyalty through retention despite great personal cost (Whitehouse, 2018). Additionally, this approach is not dependent on the existence of situational barriers, which may change over time (Talafir, 2020; Walton &

Brady, 2017); rather, because it is more reliant on the individual's perception of self (which is typically more stable than life circumstances), it is a more stable factor in retention.

Interestingly, while Talafir's 2020 study showed a positive correlation between identity fusion and retention, it did not show such a correlation between identity fusion and academic achievement. Rather, Talafir explained that academic achievement appeared to be correlated with retention independently, suggesting that academic achievement is an important factor in retention but is not a direct result of identification (Talafir, 2020).

Identify Fusion is a helpful construct in describing the unique and strong relationship that some individuals experience with a group or an organization. It is also useful to understand the retention benefits of this type of identification along with the factors that contribute to fusion. However, Identity Fusion only describes a very specific and strongly-identified set of students at an institution rather than all students who generally identify with the institution or experience a sense institutional connectedness. For this reason, Identify Fusion is a related but too-specific construct for this paper. That said, as an articulation of a specific form of identification, some of the building blocks for fusion (traditions, rituals, collective hardship) could be useful for institutions that are seeking to increase identification in general.

Institutional Connectedness.

Through research around constructs like Social Presence, Sense of Community, and Identification, educators have come to understand the importance of helping students feel connected to one another and to their institutions. While these constructs differ from one another in important ways, they all contribute to a student's sense of connectedness to their institution. Regardless of the construct or terminology used, literature does seem to consistently demonstrate that students in online learning communities benefit in a variety of ways from feeling connected

with other individuals in their courses as well as with the institution. Because connectedness can be linked both directly and indirectly to student satisfaction and retention (Cowan, 2012; Drouin, 2008; Rovai, 2002, 2009) as well as academic achievement (Drouin, 2008), researchers continue to seek a clearer understanding of the concept of "connectedness," which is often described in literature but still poorly understood because of differing definitions and terminology. While there is a significant amount of research that explores students' sense of connection with other individuals in the classroom, the concept of students' sense of connection with the institution is more challenging to describe and research.

Distinguishing an institutional sense of connection from other constructs (especially a sense of community with peers at the course level) is not a new challenge. Rovai, Wighting, and Jing explored this idea in a 2005 study. With the goal of identifying factors that increase a positive school climate for both face to face and online students (and then drawing a comparison between the two), Rovai et al. reported a difference between the online student's experience of connectedness in courses and the student's experience of connectedness at the school level; furthermore, these experiences are unique from the experiences of the face-to-face students at the same institution (Rovai et al., 2005). Glazer and Wanstreet (2011), in a study focused singularly on the issue of institutional connectedness, agreed with the suggestion that students experience different types of connectedness. After surveying 395 doctoral students from different institutions about their perceptions of connectedness within their program, Glazer and Wanstreet (2011) concluded that the students in their study felt connected to other students and also to individual faculty; however, they did not report a strong sense of connectedness with their respective institutions overall (2011, p. 59).

A research team at a mid-sized land grant university in the Midwest agreed that most literature to this point has focused on students' social connectedness with other students rather than a sense of connection with the institution (Jorgenson, Farrell, Fudge, & Pritchard, 2018). Seeking to further describe these constructs, the team explored the difference between social connectedness and institutional connectedness. These studies explored students' perceptions of both social and institutional connection through a series of surveys with questions focused on each. Student responses confirmed that while social connection and institutional connection are in fact separate perceptions, both perceptions are beneficial for the student and the institution. Furthermore, responses indicated that while the perceptions are indeed separate, social connectedness and institutional connectedness are overlapping. Students' sense of institutional connectedness is increased when they sense that they belong in the institutions' programs and with institutional individuals. Additionally, institutional connectedness is enhanced when students perceive that they are well supported, have the sense that they are high achieving, and experience an active and positive social life. Jorgenson postulates that the reason institutional connectedness is so challenging to describe is because of the way it overlaps social connectedness.

Interestingly, this overlap manifests itself in different ways depending on student age. Students between the ages of 18-25 (or within the "traditional" undergraduate college ago group) experienced stronger institutional connectedness when they perceived a strong social connection with other students, particularly when students feel connected with multiple student groups. However, older ("nontraditional") students experienced stronger institutional connectedness when they perceived a strong social connection with faculty based on shared life experiences (Jorgenson et al., 2018). The researchers noted that "any interaction between *any* campus

employee plays a role" (p. 89) in institutional connectedness, and that employees whose roles create space for students to interact with one another socially (instructors, mentorship programs, campus life, dining services) have a distinct, positive impact on institutional connectedness by cultivating social connectedness.

This is an important discovery for higher education, as both social connectedness and institutional connectedness benefit students and institutions. It is also a key understanding for higher education because the approaches to these perceptions of connection overlap; in order to cultivate institutional connectedness and retain students, institutions would be wise it is important for institutions to employ strategies that contribute most directly to their connectedness goal.

In general, students' social connectedness with other students is more widely researched and better understood than institutional connectedness, which is a relatively new area of research in education. Social connectedness with other students has great benefits, but a student's institutional connectedness has positive ramifications that are of great interest to institutions. This is especially true for institutions that offer fully online programs, where retention is of particular concern.

Despite all the work that has taken place in this area, students continue to struggle with a lack of connectedness in distance programs. Students report in some instances feeling connected with other individual students within their classes as a result of community building instructional strategies and experiencing satisfaction with their individual relationships as a result, but distance students still often report a lack of connection with their institutions overall as compared with face-to-face students (Zawacki-Richter & Anderson, 2014). Unfortunately, because institutions have varied so greatly in their understanding of and approach to institutional

connectedness for online programs, there is not a strong shared understanding of the strategies available to cultivate institutional connectedness (Zawacki-Richter & Anderson, 2014).

Synchronous instruction and Institutional Connectedness.

Especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, when institutions in the United States turned to online course delivery, understanding the strategies that can foster institutional connectedness (beyond social connectedness) in the online setting is critical. Whereas social connectedness can be cultivated relatively easily through asynchronous means (e.g., discussion boards), these strategies often fail because they place a focus on individual interactions between specific students in small groups. Additionally, strategies that may work well for students who prefer learning online may not work well for students who prefer face-to-face learning (but have been subjected to the online setting due to catastrophe). To move beyond social connectedness and ensure that all students have opportunities to develop institutional connectedness, faculty and administrators should consider instructional strategies that remind students they are part of a larger group (institution) and allow them opportunities to see and hear peers and faculty in groups may allow institutions to cultivate connectedness at the institutional level.

A mixed-methods Australian study by Stone and Springer (2019) illustrates this approach. The researchers surveyed students about their satisfaction, motivation, level of engagement, and overall success in a course. They then interviewed 151 online education staff and faculty across 16 institutions and implemented thematic findings from the interviews in course design, focusing on increasing communication and live student-teacher interactions (e.g., synchronous sessions, virtual office hours). Once students had completed the revised courses, the team re-administered the student survey to explore if the course design changes and increased student-teacher interactions impacted student experiences. Incredibly, student responses to all

survey items indicated that the increase in student-teacher interactions led to a significant increase in satisfaction, motivation, level of engagement, and academic achievement.

In their discussion about the study, Stone and Springer (2019) reminded readers that several researchers have already described the value of interactions between students and their instructors, both synchronously and asynchronously, and that faculty who spend time interacting directly with students increase the perception that instructors and the institution are connected and interested in the success of individual students, increasing institutional connectedness and eventually retention. These interactions can include asynchronous multi-media opportunities such as announcement videos and discussion boards, but they can also include synchronous options such as video conference office hours or live lectures and interactive learning opportunities that allow students to see and hear one another in a live format (Stone & Springer, 2019). They conclude that "effective online course design needs to include activities and assessment tasks that are not only directly related to learning outcomes, but that are also designed to engage students in communication and collaboration with each other through both synchronous and asynchronous means" (p. 157). Specifically, the researchers suggest ensuring that frequent and meaningful interaction opportunities be designed to recognize and explore the knowledge students bring to class on their own and integrate course content with meaningful, responsive communication that includes the instructor and the students (Stone & Springer, 2019).

While it appears that synchronous class activities may help institutions foster institutional connectedness because they prompt live communication between students and faculty, there are some drawbacks to this approach. Stone and Springer (2019) encouraged the use of synchronous activities but noted that requiring them can create unavoidable schedule conflicts for students who have to work or care for family during the time of the activity. This can cause additional

challenges for students who are low-income rather than providing deeper engagement for them (2019). Related to this challenge, students who lack access to good internet connectivity do not benefit significantly from synchronous activities because they are not able to reliably engage with the session; rather, they experience a stark awareness of their separation from others who are able to meet in their absence (Villanueva, Camilli, Chirillano, Cufré, deLandeta, Rigacci, Velazco, & Pighin, 2020). Finally, Stone and Springer (2019) advised faculty who plan to utilize synchronous sessions to limit both the length of the session and the number of students enrolled for the purpose of cultivating interaction during the sessions. Synchronous activities that are too long lose students' attention and become an unappealing barrier to learning and connection. Likewise, activities with too many participants (e.g., 300-participant lecture) limit opportunities for students to interact with the instructor and with others, eliminating the benefit of increasing connectedness (Stone & Springer, 2019).

Gaps in Previous Approaches

Despite all the research done to describe connectedness and related strategies, there are some notable gaps in the research. First, the literature to this point has largely focused on measuring how socially connected students feel with other individuals in the program. A student's sense of social connectedness with other individuals (students, instructors, administrators) is important to their success, but it differs from a student's sense of institutional connectedness. This is an important distinction for online learners who often lack the natural growth of those interpersonal relationships that might develop from seeing others regularly in the physical classroom. This is especially true in instances where student groups and instructors change frequently throughout a program due to the flexible enrollment options available to

students. With the end goal of increasing retention, it is important to further describe institutional connectedness, its benefits, and its contributing factors.

Related to this gap, because literature about institutional connectedness is limited, research has not yet described how some course design strategies (e.g., synchronous activities) might contribute to students' perception of their connection to the institution overall. As institutions have turned to synchronous activities to meet student needs online during the pandemic, exploring how these activities correlate with institutional connectedness can enlighten faculty, administrators, and student support staff as institutions continue to expand online offerings and serve students well. This is particularly true since synchronous activities provide both benefits and drawbacks to students, and institutions need to make strategic choices regarding how to implement this strategy.

Another important literature gap to note relates to research participants. To this point, as would be expected, literature about institutional identification in the online learning context has largely gathered data from students who have elected an online learning format. A 2020 qualitative, observational study conducted with faculty at several institutions who had transitioned to the online setting demonstrated that the transition had gone better for some students than others. Faculty shared that some student feedback expressed preference for online learning, and some still expressed preference for face-to-face learning (Day, 2021). Interestingly, it appears the preference may be partially due to previous student experience in the online setting. The study revealed that students who initially register for only face-to-face courses typically prefer face-to-face instruction over online instruction in general, and those who have registered for one or more online courses are comfortable in the online setting (Day, 2021). Furthermore, a different study of 356 students in an introductory science course at Sinclair University, a community college in Ohio, indicated that students with previous online learning experience had more confidence in online course work and were generally more successful (Day, 2021).

Because students in online programs to this point have been those that elected online learning (and often have experience in it), the data used to shape online instruction recommendations to this point has been limited to the feedback of students who are already experienced with online instruction. Limiting data to those who elect online learning has been helpful in informing practices so far, but a broader selection of perspectives is helpful in order to draw conclusions about institutional connectedness that can be relevant to all students. This is particularly relevant given the COVID-19 global pandemic, in which universities across the world moved instruction from the face-to-face format to online (even for students who would not ordinarily opt for online learning). Data about students' perceived identification with their institution is useful as schools strive to help all students succeed in the online classroom when needed (not just students who would opt for online learning independently).

Higher education's understanding of institutional connectedness is, at best, developing. The COVID-19 pandemic has provided education with an opportunity to further describe institutional connectedness and its implications as many students who would not ordinarily elect online learning are engaging in the online format anyway. The pandemic has also put pressure on faculty and institutions to experiment with new modes of teaching and learning, and many institutions have elected synchronous course options as a solution. Since it is possible that the lessons learned during the pandemic will encourage institutions to modify post-pandemic instructional strategies as well (Day, 2021), it is important to better understand the relationship between synchronous instructional activities and institutional connectedness.

Chapter III: Methodology

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to explore whether student participation in synchronous online instruction correlates with a sense of institutional connectedness (and eventually retention). To accomplish this, the study examined the relationship between synchronous online instruction and institutional connectedness as well as the relationship between institutional connectedness and retention in online programs. While some studies have already demonstrated a positive correlation between institutional connectedness and retention in online programs (Wilson et al., 2020), re-examining this relationship during the COVID-19 pandemic provides a unique perspective on the relationship because the sample includes students who may not ordinarily elect to learn online.

Understanding how institutional connectedness relates to retention for all students (not only those who prefer to learn online) can provide insight for institutions that seek to enhance online offerings or move face-to-face instruction to an online format. This unique perspective on institutional connectedness can help institutions develop a deeper understanding of how synchronous online instruction contributes to institutional connectedness in the online setting can help universities make instructional design decisions that cultivate a stronger sense of institutional connectedness with the goal of increasing student retention in the end.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

The idea of students' sense of connectedness with one another in the online setting began with Garrison, Anderson, and Archer's Social Presence theory (2010). This theory described the need students have to relate to one another in the online setting with the goal of developing a perception of course participants as real and whole individuals. Garrison et al. theorized that

Social Presence and the ability to interact as full and relational people in the educational setting was important for student achievement in the classroom. This theory deeply influenced the development of curricular and instructional strategies for online education in the early years, and it remains relevant in discussions about students' social connectedness with one another as well as academic achievement.

Building on this early work, Jorgenson et al. (2018) demonstrated that there is a distinction between students' social connectedness with other individuals and their sense of connection with the university as a whole. In their work, Jorgenson et al. identified that while separate, these perceptions are also overlapping. The distinction between the constructs suggests that instructional strategies which are effective for cultivating students' individual connections with one another might differ from strategies that are effective for the cultivation of institutional connectedness. Specifically, the team found that when students' social connectedness with one another increases, they are more likely to also report an increased sense of connection with the institution. The overlapping nature of the constructs can also suggest that there may be some strategies that are effective for both perceptions. Specifically, strategies that allow students to connect personally with one another but also help students perceive themselves as a part of the broader institution may help students experience connectedness at both levels.

A more recent study by Wilson, Gore, and Williamson explored the concept of institutional connectedness further (2020). This study highlighted a positive relationship between students' institutional connectedness and their intent to continue with coursework. Interestingly, they found that retention is more directly correlated to institutional connectedness than it is to program modality (e.g., face-to-face, blended, online), suggesting that the real

retention challenge online programs have is due to a lack of institutional connectedness in the online setting rather than the course modality alone.

In this study, the concept of institutional connectedness is theoretically more relevant than the Social Presence construct because it acknowledges a broader, institutional relationship above and beyond students' relationships with other individuals. However, Social Presence is still relevant to the discussion as an overlapping construct that has been well explored; the overlap between these theories suggests that interactive instructional strategies (such as synchronous activities) known as contributors to Social Presence may also contribute to institutional connectedness if designed in a way that allows students to perceive themselves as part of a larger group. The understanding that institutional connectedness has implications related to retention explains why institutional connectedness is an important discussion, especially as more institutions include online learning as a central educational strategy.

Leaning on the distinction between social connectedness and institutional connectedness, this study will continue the exploration of institutional connectedness as a distinct construct with retention implications. This study examined one specific instructional strategy, large group synchronous online instruction, as a possible strategy for increasing institutional connectedness and ultimately retention.

This study took a post-positivist approach to the exploration of these variables. According to Creswell (2009), a post-positivist approach to research acknowledges that studies of human behavior cannot claim to present absolute truth but rather aims to identify probable causes that relate to specific outcomes. This approach asserts that while all research is imperfect, well-designed studies can explain objective concepts. Post-positivist research breaks large problems down into smaller, discrete variables that can be observed and measured (Creswell,

2009) in an attempt to objectively explain how factors might influence outcomes. Because the post-positivist approach assumes that research, being imperfect, cannot identify objective truth, it focuses on rejecting null hypotheses rather than proving hypotheses. Surveys that include quantifiable items are a common research strategy for post-positivists because they offer a quantitative approach to human experiences, allowing the researcher to make specific and focused comparisons between survey item responses (Patten, 2014).

Focusing on the post-positivist approach to research, this study sought to explain aspects of the student's experience with synchronous online instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention by separating variables into measurable survey items and comparing responses quantitatively to identify probable relationships between the variables. Student responses to the survey items will be used in an attempt to reject null hypotheses that state there is no relationship between synchronous online instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The research questions addressed in this study examined the relationships among synchronous online instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention (or specifically, intent to continue coursework). The research questions in this study were as follows:

- 1. What is the relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connection to the institution?
- 2. What is the relationship between a sense of connection to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution?
- 3. What is the relationship between synchronous online instruction and intent to continue coursework at the institution?

The researcher hypothesized that there is no correlation among each of the three variables (synchronous instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention). Specifically, the hypotheses are as follows:

Synchronous instruction and institutional connectedness

H1₀: There is no relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connectedness to their institution.

H1_A: There is a relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connectedness to their institution.

Institutional connectedness and retention

 $H2_0$: There is no relationship between a sense of connectedness to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution.

 $H2_A$: There is a relationship between a sense of connectedness to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution.

Synchronous instruction and retention

H3₀: Students that participate in synchronous online instruction are equally or less likely to continue coursework in future terms.

H3_A: Students that participate in synchronous online instruction are more likely to continue coursework in future terms.

Instrument and Measures

This study was developed by the administration of the 2020 Campus Life Survey, and the purpose and scope of the survey reach beyond the questions of this particular study. The majority of the 2020 Campus Life Survey was created by Bethel University's Office of Assessment and Accreditation. A portion of the questions on the survey, related to COVID-19,

was created by the Higher Education Data Sharing Consortium (HEDS) and shared with Bethel for use in this survey. (A copy of the official written permission for the use of HEDS items is located in Appendix A.) Using HEDS COVID-19 items allows Bethel administration to compare HEDS survey items with 41,000 student responses at 64 institutions across the nation (Higher Education Data Sharing Consortium, 2020).

The survey was administered via an email invitation to traditional undergraduate students at Bethel University's College of Arts and Sciences (CAS). Students at the university's Graduate School, Seminary, and College of Adult and Professional Studies were not included in the administration of the survey. Through this survey, faculty and administrators hoped to collect general annual data related to student experiences as well as understand student experiences with online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The survey was lengthy and included questions on many topics (e.g., about faith, academic achievement, campus involvement, sense of connectedness, and intention to continue coursework during the next semester). A portion of this survey includes questions related to the Fear of Happiness and Attitudes Toward God Scales. An undergraduate student has written an unpublished manuscript for a senior project using the Fear of Happiness and Attitudes Toward God Scales. No other studies have been completed at Bethel University using survey data, but institutions across the United States have drawn their own conclusions internally about trends in the survey items at their campus. Additionally, the Higher Education Data Sharing Consortium has provided summaries of the national trends in survey items on their website.

The items in this instrument that are of use in the present study have not been evaluated for validity or reliability. Because COVID-19-related survey items do not total to create a scale and the items for this study were examined individually, validity and reliability were not

relevant. This is particularly true given that the survey was only administered once and will not be evaluated for test-retest reliability. While there is no calculated data on validity or reliability on the survey, assessment leaders at Bethel University have agreed with HEDS educational researchers that the items have strong face validity.

This study used three items from the 2020 Campus Life Survey with the intention of generalizing findings from the smaller sample to the larger university population (Creswell, 2009) with the goal of developing a better understanding of how synchronous instruction might relate to institutional connectedness and retention. The 2020 Campus Life Survey was an appropriate tool for data collection in this case, as it was low in cost, easily accessible by the intended participants, and it provided a streamlined and easy process for the transfer of data to data analysis software once the data is collected. A selection of the items in the survey also directly addressed the focus of this study, allowing the researcher to utilize existing data rather than re-administering a new survey shortly after the 2020 Campus Life Survey was administered.

While the 2020 Campus Life Survey was not originally designed specifically for use in this study, it was an appropriate tool to use in the discussion of this study's topics. One reason for using the existing survey data was due to the unique circumstances under which the survey was administered. As noted earlier, feedback regarding online instruction is most often available from students who prefer learning online for a variety of reasons. It is possible that students who prefer learning online experience institutional connectedness more readily and are more likely to continue coursework than a more general population of students who would not normally elect to learn online.

The other significant reason for using the existing survey data in this study was the close alignment of some survey items with the focus of the study. Because the survey was

administered with the purpose of collecting feedback that can be compared with previous years as well as more specific feedback about student experiences with learning online during COVID, there are several items in the survey that are not relevant to this study. The full survey included items that students regularly respond to about safety on campus, involvement in campus activities, academic achievement, and academic plans. Additional questions focused on the impact of COVID-19 on the student experience as well as the impact of various instructional strategies on the student experience. However, three specific survey items align directly with this study's research questions:

- 183. How many courses are you taking this semester right now (do not include courses that were only a half semester long in the first half of the semester)?
- 182. How many of your courses have met synchronously (e.g., class meets together with the instructor at the same time for a lecture or discussion) at least once since classes were moved online because of COVID-19?
- 178. How connected do you feel to Bethel?
- 179. Do you intend to return to Bethel next fall to continue and/or complete your education?

The first research question in this study sought to explore the relationship between synchronous instruction and a sense of connection to the institution. Items 182 and 178 from the 2020 Campus Life Survey directly addressed this question, allowing for a correlational study of the variables in that question. The second research question in this study examined the relationship between students' sense of connection to their university and their intention to continue coursework in the coming semester. Items 178 and 179 directly measured the variables in this question, which supported the aim of the study. Finally, the third research question in this study investigated whether there was a relationship between synchronous instruction and students' intention to continue coursework at the university in the coming semester. Items 182 and 179 addressed the variables in this research question. Together, these three items from the 2020 Campus Life Survey supported this study's aim to explore how synchronous online instruction might impact the perception of connectedness and retention in the undergraduate, online setting.

Sampling Design

The 2020 Campus Life Survey targeted undergraduate students enrolled in the traditional undergraduate school (College of Arts and Sciences) at Bethel University in St. Paul, Minnesota during the 2019-2020 academic year. Bethel University is a medium-sized, private, Christian university in the Twin Cities area of Minnesota. The university includes traditional, undergraduate, liberal arts programs (College of Arts and Sciences) along with other programs for adults (degree completion, graduate school, and seminary). While most of the programs for adults are offered online, the College of Arts and Sciences has not historically offered many courses online on a regular basis. In all, Bethel University enrolled 4,005 students in 2019-2020 (*National Center for Education Statistics*, 2021), 2,270 of whom were enrolled in the College of Arts and Sciences at the time of this study.

At the time of the survey, students who were enrolled in the traditional programming had completed (or were completing) the remainder of their spring 2020 semester in an online format due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. These students began their academic year as expected, completing coursework on campus and participating in university activities. Many of them lived on campus. In the spring

semester, students began coursework as usual, attending courses on campus. However, because of rising cases of COVID-19 nationally, the university delivered the remainder of the spring semester's curriculum online. Most students moved off campus and completed their courses at a distance.

Faculty and administration at Bethel University understood that there was a possibility that the pandemic would not slow down over the summer and that instruction may have to be modified to an online or blended format again in the fall. Hoping to understand what helped students succeed while learning online in the spring, the university administered the 2020 Campus Life Survey to all students enrolled during the spring term in the university's traditional college, the College of Arts and Sciences (CAS).

Bethel University administration sent the 2020 Campus Life Survey via university email to 2,270 students. Nine hundred seventy-five students started the survey, and 957 students completed at least a portion of it (for a 42% completion rate). Students who completed the survey provided a representation of students at all years (freshman, sophomore, junior, and senior), and from a wide variety of majors. All students who completed the survey had experienced a shift in their course schedules from primarily face-to-face courses to fully online courses.

This survey sample provides a unique insight into student needs in the online environment. In many cases, student feedback about the perception of connectedness within the context of online learning is provided by students who elect to learn in an online format. Regardless of the rationale for selecting online learning, students who complete online coursework typically understand before beginning coursework that they will be interacting with others at a distance. It is possible that they enter into the online

learning process with skills or a predisposition for developing connections in the online environment, and they are not likely as disappointed by the distance setting as students who choose the face-to-face setting but must learn online anyway.

This unique perspective is important for institutions that seek to increase their online offerings even when students may not all indicate an interest in pursuing online options. As higher education continues to shift toward the online setting (or as the online modality continues to be an important strategy in managing campus health during public health crises), it is critical for faculty and campus leaders to understand how all students develop connections with the university and make decisions about continuing coursework, not just those who would elect for online learning in the first place. The students that completed the 2020 Campus Life Survey at Bethel represent many students whose input would most likely represent challenges in feeling connected with the university online rather than that of primarily online students who began coursework prepared to develop connections online.

Data Collection Procedures

Data from the 2020 Campus Life Survey is available by request from Bethel University's Office of Institutional Data and Research. To obtain this data, a researcher must write a proposal outlining the intended, specific use of the data and submit the proposal to the Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB's purpose is to "ensure the respectful and ethical treatment of human participants in research conducted by Bethel students and faculty or by researchers whose participants will include members of the Bethel community" (*Institutional Review Board*, 2020). The proposal will include a written description of the study, two

additional forms required by IRB, and an official letter of permission to access the data from the Office of Assessment and Accreditation.

Following IRB approval of the proposal, the researcher requested the data via email from the Institutional Data and Research team. In addition to the specific items noted above, the researcher also requested data from the demographic items on the survey (e.g., class standing, language, disability, gender, ethnicity). The Institutional Data and Research team shared only the survey items requested due to relevance to the study. The data was provided in a CSV file, and it contained all of the specific responses for each survey item, demographic items, and timestamps.

Data Analysis

To ensure that the study includes high-quality data, data was reviewed and cleansed after it was obtained. During the cleansing process, the researcher reviewed the anonymous survey responses to identify any responses that appeared incomplete. Responses that excluded any of the specific items relevant to this study indicated that a respondent did not finish the survey, and the entry was discarded due to the risk that the entries provided represented an incomplete thought or inaccuracies related to the failed survey attempt. However, responses that provided complete entries for the items listed but excluded demographic information were included in the analysis. Additionally, survey responses that appeared to have been completed in an amount of time that is insufficient for intentional completion of the items (per the completion timestamp in the file) were removed. The researcher completed data cleansing manually rather than using artificial intelligence.

Once cleansed, the data file was saved as a new file and uploaded into Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SSPS), a software used for the analysis of quantitative analyses. The

researcher identified the variables for the hypotheses and performed statistical tests according to each hypothesis's variable types. The following table outlines the variable types and survey items for each hypothesis.

Hypothesis	Independent Variable	Dependent Variable
1. There is no relationship between	Percentage of courses	Strength of
synchronous online instruction and a	offering synchronous	connectedness
sense of connectedness to their	online instruction	(survey item 178)
institution.	(survey items 182, 183)	
2. There is no relationship between a	Strength of	Likelihood of
sense of connectedness to the institution	connectedness	continuing coursework
and intent to continue coursework at the	(survey item 178)	in future terms
institution.		(survey item 179)
3. Students that participate in	Percentage of courses	Likelihood of
synchronous online instruction are	offering synchronous	continuing coursework
equally or less likely to continue	online instruction	in future terms
coursework in future terms.	(survey items 182, 183)	(survey item 179)

Data analysis in this study will follow appropriate tests according to variable type. To analyze the relationship between the variables in this study and draw inferences that might be generalized, the study will lean on statistical tests selected based on the number and types of independent and dependent variables. In this study, the Spearman's Rho test will be used to analyze all primary hypotheses. In the first hypothesis, a Spearman's Rho test showed the relationship between variables (percentage of courses offering synchronous online instruction and strength of perceived connectedness). In the second hypothesis, a Spearman's Rho test showed the relationship between variables (strength of perceived connectedness and intent to continue coursework). In the third hypothesis, a Spearman's Rho test showed the relationship between variables (number of courses offering synchronous instruction and intent to continue coursework).

To explore the relationship between various demographics and variables from the primary hypotheses, a variety of statistical tests were used due to the variety of variable types in the demographics data. Those tests included Chi-square, independent *t*-test, and Welch's test.

Limitations and Assumptions

There are some limitations to this study that are important to note. First, and quite significantly, the students who completed the survey are all enrolled in traditional undergraduate programs. The data in this study does not represent students who are completing advanced degrees or who are enrolled in degree completion programs. As such, non-traditional student data is not represented in this study. Because of the differences between life circumstances for traditional and non-traditional students, it is possible that survey responses from non-traditional students students could have different outcomes.

Additionally, the survey was sent to students who are currently enrolled in the College of Arts and Sciences. If students unenrolled prior to the survey due to financial or health issues related to the COVID-19 pandemic, their responses aren't represented in this survey. As such, this survey data represents input from students who were able to participate in learning

throughout the pandemic and not from students for whom the pandemic was problematic enough to interrupt school enrollment.

Beyond these limitations, this study also acknowledges that the shift to online education for some faculty and students was more challenging due to limited familiarity or skills with the technological tools needed to teach and learn online. It is reasonable to note that in some cases, synchronous online learning had variable levels of quality and effectiveness. This study assumes comparable levels of quality across synchronous online instruction experiences, and the results of this study are limited by the fact that this is unlikely.

Additionally, the data from this survey represents the perceptions of students who, outside of the COVID-19 pandemic, would otherwise be enrolled in traditional, face-to-face courses. This is an important limitation to note, as the goals and expectations of students who prefer face-to-face instruction can differ significantly from expectations of students who prefer to learn online. However, while this factor limits the data so that it represents only those who prefer face-to-face learning, this limitation also presents an opportunity to better understand faceto-face student experiences in a time when institutions increasingly pursue online education opportunities.

Another limitation is that this survey asks students about the synchronous activity requirements for their courses, not whether they participated in those activities. This assumes that students are participating in the required activities, which may not be accurate in all cases. One consideration might be to limit the study to students who also reported that they were successful with coursework, suggesting that they had also participated in the required synchronous sessions.

Students' motivation for completing the survey could be another limitation. Students who completed the survey are those that felt most inclined to give feedback. Completing a survey is an investment of time, and it is possible that those who completed the survey are willing to make the investment due to a sense of connectedness with the institution. Students who do not feel connected to the institution may not be as highly represented in this data. To motivate students who might not otherwise participate, Bethel University administration offered an incentive for participants. Still, it is likely that the data in this survey generally represent students who are more highly invested in the university.

In addition to these limitations, it is important to remember that this survey was conducted at only one institution, which is faith-based and located in the mid-west. To generalize the results of the study beyond this setting, it would be important to repeat the study and include a wide variety of institutions from locations throughout the United States. Because this study is limited in this manner, it is important to note that results and discussion may not be generalizable beyond the specific institution where the survey was administered.

Finally, while the survey promises that student responses are anonymous, some participants may doubt that their responses are actually anonymous. In these cases, they may be inclined to respond to survey items in a way that they perceive the institution may want them to respond. This study assumes that participant responses are honest and accurate, but it is possible that there may be some inaccurate responses.

Ethical Considerations

To ensure that students understood how their data would be used, the survey explained that the purpose of the survey was to gather information about the effectiveness of instruction, satisfaction, retention, beliefs, and safety on campus. It is important to note

that the purpose of the survey, as it was communicated to students, was different from the focus of this study, which was a more specific analysis of a selected number of items.

The survey description noted that university leadership adjusts practices based on student input to remind students to respond honestly, and it identifies the time commitment required of those who engage in the survey (Creswell, 2009). To encourage participation in the survey for university purposes, faculty who administered the survey invited students to provide their email address in exchange for a \$100 gift card drawing, but the survey description noted that these email addresses would be separated from actual survey responses in order to keep responses anonymous. The survey was administered at a time when students were not involved in many other surveys or completing final exams for courses, which could have reduced the students' ability to participate fully and limited the validity of the results. During the analysis of the data for this study, results will be discussed as they are found regardless of the expected reaction of an audience (Creswell, 2009).

Once obtained by the researcher, survey data will be kept confidential and protected from unauthorized access through file encrypting. Following the use of the data and completion of the study, encrypted files will be destroyed. Institutional copies of the survey data are stored by the Office of Assessment and Accreditation. Together with the Provost's Office, the Office of Assessment and Accreditation restricts data access to those who have completed the specified steps of submitting a proposal to IRB and receiving approval for the use of the data. When the data is shared, it "is de-identified, includes only the variables for the requested study, and stripped of all participant comments" (J. Frederickson, personal communication, January 18, 2021).

Anonymized data from the survey was kept confidential throughout the study. Copies of the data for the purpose of this study will be destroyed following the completion of the study. Copies of the data for the purpose of other university analysis and decisionmaking will be maintained and managed according to data storage practices in Bethel University's Office of Assessment and Accreditation.

Summary

While the 2020 Campus Life Survey was not designed with this study in mind, it directly addressed the research questions of this study. Through the acquisition of the existing survey data and the analysis of three items from the survey, this study described how synchronous instruction correlates with students' sense of institutional connectedness. It also described the correlation between institutional connectedness and students' intention to continue coursework at the university in the coming term.

Additionally, because the population for this survey includes students who would normally prefer to learn in a traditional, face-to-face setting, the data offered unique insight into the effectiveness of synchronous instruction for all students in the online setting rather than providing insights for only those who have elected to learn online. This is an important perspective as higher education institutions increase online programming in response to strategic growth plans and public crises. In the next chapter, this study examines survey data, outlines findings, and provides an analysis of the data using the statistical tests described in this chapter.
Chapter IV: Results

Main Hypotheses

There are three variables that are the main focus for the three hypotheses in this study: percentage of courses taught synchronously (interval scale of measurement), sense of connectedness to the institution (ordinal scale of measurement), and intent to continue coursework at the institution (ordinal scale of measurement). Given that each of the three hypotheses includes at least one ordinal scale, the Spearman's Rho correlational test was chosen to test the relationships proposed in each hypothesis.

For the intent to continue coursework variable, the graduating senior category was changed to "system missing" given that graduating seniors have no reason to return to the institution. The remaining response options were recoded so that a higher number indicates a greater likelihood of intent to return to the institution. Additionally, the "unsure" category was placed in the middle of the distribution (3), between "probably no" and "probably yes" to create an ordinal scale. See Table 1 for the original frequency distribution and Table 2 for the recoded intent to return frequency distribution.

Frequency Distribution for the Original Intend to Return to Institution Item

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Definitely yes	520	54.3	59.8	59.8
	Probably yes	169	17.7	19.4	79.2
	Probably no	4	.4	.5	79.7
	Definitely no	19	2.0	2.2	81.8
	Unsure	29	3.0	3.3	85.2
	Not applicable because	129	13.5	14.8	100.0
	I am graduating				
	Total	870	90.9	100.0	
Missing	System	87	9.1		
Total		957	100.0		

Do You Intend To Return To This Institution Next Fall To Continue And/Or Complete Your Education?

Table 2

Frequency Distribution for the Recoded Intend to Return to Institution Item

Do You Intend To Return To This Institution Next Fall To Continue And/Or Complete Your Education?

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Definitely not Returning	19	2.0	2.6	2.6
	Probably not Returning	4	.4	.5	3.1
	Unsure	29	3.0	3.9	7.0
	Probably Returning	169	17.7	22.8	29.8
	Definitely Returning	520	54.3	70.2	100.0
	Total	741	77.4	100.0	
Missing	System	216	22.6		
Total		957	100.0		

Hypothesis 1

The survey items utilized for the first hypotheses examined the percentage of courses that

offered synchronous online instruction and students' sense of connectedness to their institution. Those items were:

- 183. How many courses are you taking this semester right now (do not include courses that were only a half semester long in the first half of the semester)?
- 182. How many of your courses have met synchronously (e.g., class meets together with the instructor at the same time for a lecture or discussion) at least once since classes were moved online because of COVID-19?
- 178. How connected do you feel to Bethel?

A Spearman's Rho correlation was used to examine the relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connectedness to their institution. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, $r_s = .004$, p = .907, N = 870. The percentage of classes that the student had synchronous online instruction was not related to their sense of connectedness to the institution.

Hypothesis 2

The survey items utilized for the second hypotheses examined students' sense of connectedness to their institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution. Those items were:

178. How connected do you feel to Bethel?

179. Do you intend to return to Bethel next fall to continue and/or complete your education?

A Spearman's Rho correlation was also used to examine the relationship between a sense of connectedness to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution. There was a significant positive correlation between the two variables, $r_s = .268$, p < .001, N = 741.

This means that more connected the student felt to the institution, the more likely they intended to return to the institution.

Hypothesis 3

Finally, the survey items utilized for the first hypotheses examined percentage of courses that offered synchronous online instruction and students' intent to continue coursework at the institution. Those items were:

- 183. How many courses are you taking this semester right now (do not include courses that were only a half semester long in the first half of the semester)?
- 182. How many of your courses have met synchronously (e.g., class meets together with the instructor at the same time for a lecture or discussion) at least once since classes were moved online because of COVID-19?
- 179. Do you intend to return to Bethel next fall to continue and/or complete your education?

A Spearman's Rho correlation was again used to examine the relationship between percent of synchronous online instruction and intent to continue coursework at the institution. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, $r_s = .041$, p = .740, N = 740. The percent of classes that the student had that were taught synchronously was not related to their intent to return to the institution.

Demographic Analyses

Additional analyses were conducted to examine if there were relationships between the three main variables in the study (percent of courses taught synchronously, connectedness to institution, and intent to return to institution) and six demographic variables: gender, transfer status, multilingual status, race/ethnicity, participation in intercollegiate athletics, and year in

school. Analyses are organized by each of the three main variables in the study. Given that some of the demographic variables used a nominal scale of measurement (categorical), Chisquare analyses were used much of the time to examine the relationships. This required that one of the main variables, intent to return to the institution, be recoded. As can be seen in the frequency distributions in Tables 1 and 2 presented earlier, there were only four students who chose the "probably no" category. This is too small of a cell for conducting Chi-square analyses. Because of this, the "probably no" and "definitely no" categories were combined together for these analyses. The frequency distribution for this recoded "intent to return" variable can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3

Frequency Distribution for the Recoded Intend to Return to Institution Item with Combined Category

				Valid	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	Definitely or Probably	23	2.4	3.1	3.1
	Not Returning				
	Unsure	29	3.0	3.9	7.0
	Probably Returning	169	17.7	22.8	29.8
	Definitely Returning	520	54.3	70.2	100.0
	Total	741	77.4	100.0	
Missing	System	216	22.6		
Total		957	100.0		

Do You Intend To Return To This Institution Next Fall To Continue And/Or Complete Your Education?

Intent to Return to Institution

Students who identify as "transfer students," or students who enrolled at Bethel University after completing college credits at another institution, are considered to have "transfer status." A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between transfer status and intent to return to the institution. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, $\chi^2(3, N = 723) = 1.06$, p = .787. Note that because of the low number of students who did not plan to return to the institution, there were two cells with expected frequencies below the minimum count of five. Table 4 shows that the percentages within each category are similar to one another.

Table 4

			Do you consid	er yourself a	
		-	transfer s	tudent?	
			Yes	No	Total
Intent to	Definitely or	Count	4	18	22
Return to this	Probably Not	Expected Count	2.6	19.4	22.0
Institution	Returning	%	4.7%	2.8%	3.0%
	Unsure	Count	3	26	29
		Expected Count	3.4	25.6	29.0
		%	3.5%	4.1%	4.0%
	Probably	Count	18	147	165
	Returning	Expected Count	19.6	145.4	165.0
		%	20.9%	23.1%	22.8%
	Definitely	Count	61	446	507
	Returning	Expected Count	60.3	446.7	507.0
		%	70.9%	70.0%	70.1%
Total		Count	86	637	723
		Expected Count	86.0	637.0	723.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Intent to Return to Institution by Transfer Status

At the time of this study, students had been enrolled in the spring 2020 athletics as usual, but activities had been cancelled or adjusted due to pandemic. It is assumed that students who would typically enroll in athletics were still enrolled, but that their actual participation in the activities had been limited. In this survey, the number of students who indicated that they were on an athletic team represents typical enrollment numbers. The relationship between whether or not a student was on an athletic team and their intent to return to the institution approached, but was not quite, statistically significant, χ^2 (3, N = 723) = 6.62, p = .085. Athletes (96.8%) were a little more likely to say they would probably or definitely be returning to the institution compared to non-athletes (91.8%). Note that because of the low number of students who did not plan to return to the institution, there was one cell with expected frequencies below the minimum count of five. See Table 5 for percentages.

Table 5

Crosstabs of	fIntent to	Return to	o Institution	by Athletic	Status
5				2	

			Were you an athlete on a team		
			this academi	c year?	
			Yes	No	Total
Intent to	Definitely or	Count	2	20	22
Return to	Probably Not	Expected Count	4.8	17.2	22.0
Institution	Returning	%	1.3%	3.5%	3.0%
	Unsure	Count	3	26	29
		Expected Count	6.3	22.7	29.0
		%	1.9%	4.6%	4.0%
	Probably	Count	44	121	165
	Returning	Expected Count	36.1	128.9	165.0
		%	27.8%	21.4%	22.8%
	Definitely	Count	109	398	507
	Returning				
		Expected Count	110.8	396.2	507.0
		%	69.0%	70.4%	70.1%
Total		Count	158	565	723
		Expected Count	158.0	565.0	723.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between multilingual status and intent to return to the institution. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, $\chi^2(3, N = 723) = 1.74$, p = .627. Note that because of the low number of students

who did not plan to return to the institution, there were two cells with expected frequencies below the minimum count of five. Table 6 shows that the percentages within each category are similar to one another.

Table 6

Crosstabs of Intent to Return to Institution by	Multilingual Status
---	---------------------

			Are you	Are you a multilingual		
			S	tudent?	Total	
			Yes	No		
Intent to	Definitely or	Count	2	20	22	
Return to this	Probably Not	Expected Count	1.8	20.2	22.0	
Institution	Returning	%	3.4%	3.0%	3.0%	
	Unsure	Count	4	25	29	
		Expected Count	2.4	26.6	29.0	
		%	6.8%	3.8%	4.0%	
	Probably	Count	15	150	165	
	Returning	Expected Count	13.5	151.5	165.0	
		%	25.4%	22.6%	22.8%	
	Definitely	Count	38	469	507	
	Returning	Expected Count	41.4	465.6	507.0	
		%	64.4%	70.6%	70.1%	
Total		Count	59	664	723	
		Expected Count	59.0	664.0	723.0	
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between gender and intent to return to the institution. Women (72.8%) were significantly more likely to say they were definitely returning to the institution compared to men (62.4%), whereas men (31.2%) were significantly more likely to say they were probably returning to the institution compared to women (19.9%), χ^2 (3, N = 741) = 10.24, p = .017. See Table 7 for percentages within each category.

			Gend	ler	
			Female	Male	Total
Intent to	Definitely or	Count	18	5	23
Return to the	Probably Not	Expected Count	17.1	5.9	23.0
Institution	Returning	%	3.3%	2.6%	3.1%
	Unsure	Count	22	7	29
		Expected Count	21.6	7.4	29.0
		%	4.0%	3.7%	3.9%
	Probably	Count	110	59	169
	Returning	Expected Count	125.9	43.1	169.0
		%	19.9%	31.2%	22.8%
	Definitely	Count	402	118	520
	Returning	Expected Count	387.4	132.6	520.0
		%	72.8%	62.4%	70.2%
Total		Count	552	189	741
		Expected Count	552.0	189.0	741.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Intent to Return to Institution by Gender

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between the race/ethnicity of the student and intent to return to the institution. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, $\chi^2(3, N = 733) = 2.58$, p = .461. Note that because of the smaller number of BIPOC students and small number of students who did not plan to return to the institution, there were two cells with expected frequencies below the minimum count of five. Table 8 shows that the percentages within each category are similar to one another.

			RaceEtl	RaceEthnicity	
			BIPOC	White	Total
Intent to	Definitely or	Count	2	21	23
Return to the	Probably Not	Expected Count	2.8	20.2	23.0
Institution	Returning	%	2.2%	3.3%	3.1%
	Unsure	Count	6	22	28
		Expected Count	3.4	24.6	28.0
		%	6.7%	3.4%	3.8%
	Probably	Count	19	148	167
	Returning	Expected Count	20.5	146.5	167.0
		%	21.1%	23.0%	22.8%
	Definitely	Count	63	452	515
	Returning	Expected Count	63.2	451.8	515.0
		%	70.0%	70.3%	70.3%
Total		Count	90	643	733
		Expected Count	90.0	643.0	733.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Intent to Return to Institution by Race/Ethnicity

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between year in school and intent to return to the institution. It should be noted that graduating seniors were excluded from the intent to return item. The seniors left have senior status but were not yet graduating. Seniors (81.6%) were significantly more likely to indicate that they were definitely returning compared to juniors (73.1%), sophomores (60.3%), and first-years (61.2%), χ^2 (9, N = 740) = 63.23, p < .001. Note that because of the small number of students who did not plan to return to the institution, there were two cells with expected frequencies below the minimum count of five. See Table 9 for percentages within each category.

				Year In Sc	hool		Total
			First-year	Sophomore	Junior	Senior	
Intent to	Definitely or	Count	13	7	3	0	23
Return to	Probably Not	Expected Count	3.2	6.5	7.1	6.2	23.0
this	Returning	%	12.6%	3.3%	1.3%	0.0%	3.1%
Institution	Unsure	Count	7	12	6	4	29
		Expected Count	4.0	8.2	8.9	7.9	29.0
		%	6.8%	5.7%	2.6%	2.0%	3.9%
	Probably	Count	20	64	52	33	169
	Returning	Expected Count	23.5	47.7	51.8	45.9	169.0
		%	19.4%	30.6%	22.9%	16.4%	22.8%
	Definitely	Count	63	126	166	164	519
	Returning	Expected Count	72.2	146.6	159.2	141.0	519.0
		%	61.2%	60.3%	73.1%	81.6%	70.1%
Total		Count	103	209	227	201	740
		Expected Count	103.0	209.0	227.0	201.0	740.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Intent to Return to Institution by Year in School

Connectedness to Institution

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between multilingual status and how connected the student feels to the institution. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, $\chi^2(3, N = 852) = 2.92$, p = .404. Note that because of the small number of students who said they had no connection to the institution, there was one cell with expected frequencies below the minimum count of five. Table 10 shows that the percentages within each category are similar to one another.

			Are you a multilingual			
			stud	lent?	Total	
			Yes	No		
How	No	Count	5	38	43	
connected do	connection	Expected Count	3.6	39.4	43.0	
you feel to		%	6.9%	4.9%	5.0%	
this	Very little	Count	26	226	252	
institution?	connection	Expected Count	21.3	230.7	252.0	
		%	36.1%	29.0%	29.6%	
	Some	Count	31	412	443	
	connection	Expected Count	37.4	405.6	443.0	
		%	43.1%	52.8%	52.0%	
	Very strong	Count	10	104	114	
	connection	Expected Count	9.6	104.4	114.0	
		%	13.9%	13.3%	13.4%	
Total		Count	72	780	852	
		Expected Count	72.0	780.0	852.0	
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

Crosstabs of Connectedness to the Institution by Multilingual Status

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between whether or not the student is an athlete and how connected the student feels to the institution. There was a significant relationship between the two variables, $\chi^2(3, N = 852) = 16.43$, p = .001. Athletes (73.9%) were more likely to say they had some connection or a very strong connection to the institution compared to non-athletes (63.3%). Note that because of the small number of students who said they had no connection to the institution, there was one cell with expected frequencies below the minimum count of five. Table 11 shows the percentages within each category.

			Were you a	n athlete on a	
			team this ac	ademic year?	Total
			Yes	No	
How	No	Count	1	42	43
connected do	connection	Expected Count	8.7	34.3	43.0
you feel to		%	0.6%	6.2%	5.0%
this	Very little	Count	44	208	252
Institution?	connection	Expected Count	50.9	201.1	252.0
		%	25.6%	30.6%	29.6%
	Some	Count	93	350	443
	connection	Expected Count	89.4	353.6	443.0
		%	54.1%	51.5%	52.0%
	Very strong	Count	34	80	114
	connection	Expected Count	23.0	91.0	114.0
		%	19.8%	11.8%	13.4%
Total		Count	172	680	852
		Expected Count	172.0	680.0	852.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Connectedness to the Institution by Athletic Status

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between the transfer status of the student and how connected the student feels to the institution. There was a significant relationship between the two variables, $\chi^2(3, N = 852) = 10.85$, p = .013. Non-transfers (67.3%) were more likely to say they had some connection or a very strong connection to the institution compared to transfers (51.4%). Table 12 shows the percentages within each category.

			Do you cons	ider yourself	
			a transfer	student?	Total
			Yes	No	
How	No connection	Count	9	34	43
connected do		Expected Count	5.2	37.8	43.0
you feel to		%	8.7%	4.5%	5.0%
this	Very little	Count	41	211	252
Institution?	connection	Expected Count	30.5	221.5	252.0
		%	39.8%	28.2%	29.6%
	Some	Count	43	400	443
	connection	Expected Count	53.6	389.4	443.0
		%	41.7%	53.4%	52.0%
	Very strong	Count	10	104	114
	connection				
		Expected Count	13.8	100.2	114.0
		%	9.7%	13.9%	13.4%
Total		Count	103	749	852
		Expected Count	103.0	749.0	852.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Connectedness to the Institution by Transfer Status

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between gender and how connected the student feels to the institution. Though men (70.4%) were more likely to say they had some connection or a very strong connection to the institution compared to women (63.6%), the relationship was not quite statistically significant, $\chi^2(3, N = 870) = 6.03$, p = .110. Table 13 shows the percentages within each category.

			Gene	ler	
			Female	Male	Total
How	No	Count	36	9	45
connected do	connection	Expected Count	33.7	11.3	45.0
you feel to		%	5.5%	4.1%	5.2%
this	Very little	Count	201	56	257
Institution?	connection	Expected Count	192.3	64.7	257.0
		%	30.9%	25.6%	29.5%
	Some	Count	337	116	453
	connection	Expected Count	339.0	114.0	453.0
		%	51.8%	53.0%	52.1%
	Very strong	Count	77	38	115
	connection	Expected Count	86.1	28.9	115.0
		%	11.8%	17.4%	13.2%
Total		Count	651	219	870
		Expected Count	651.0	219.0	870.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Connectedness to the Institution by Gender

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between year in school and how connected the student feels to the institution. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, $\chi^2(9, N = 869) = 9.35$, p = .405. Table 14 shows that the percentages within each category are similar to one another.

Crosstabs of	^c Connected	ness to the	e Institution l	bv Year	in Sch	iool
				~		

				Year In School				
		-	First-	Sopho-				
			year	more	Junior	Senior		
How	No	Count	9	12	12	12	45	
connected	connection	Expected Count	5.4	10.8	11.8	17.0	45.0	
do you feel		%	8.7%	5.7%	5.3%	3.6%	5.2%	
to this	Very little	Count	31	55	71	99	256	
institution?	connection	Expected Count	30.6	61.6	66.9	96.9	256.0	
		%	29.8%	26.3%	31.3%	30.1%	29.5%	
	Some	Count	50	119	108	176	453	
	connection	Expected Count	54.2	108.9	118.3	171.5	453.0	
		%	48.1%	56.9%	47.6%	53.5%	52.1%	
	Very strong	Count	14	23	36	42	115	
	connection	Expected Count	13.8	27.7	30.0	43.5	115.0	
		%	13.5%	11.0%	15.9%	12.8%	13.2%	
Total		Count	104	209	227	329	869	
		Expected Count	104.0	209.0	227.0	329.0	869.0	
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

A Chi-square analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between the race/ethnicity of the student and how connected the student feels to the institution. Because of the smaller number of students of color at the institution, this comparison is between BIPOC students and white students. There was no significant relationship between the two variables, χ^2 (3, N = 858) = 0.611, p = .894. Table 15 shows that the percentages within each category are similar to one another.

			Race/Eth	nnicity	
			BIPOC	White	Total
How	No	Count	7	36	43
connected do	connection	Expected Count	5.4	37.6	43.0
you feel to		%	6.5%	4.8%	5.0%
this	Very little	Count	31	225	256
Institution?	connection	Expected Count	31.9	224.1	256.0
		%	29.0%	30.0%	29.8%
	Some	Count	55	391	446
	connection	Expected Count	55.6	390.4	446.0
		%	51.4%	52.1%	52.0%
	Very strong	Count	14	99	113
	connection	Expected Count	14.1	98.9	113.0
		%	13.1%	13.2%	13.2%
Total		Count	107	751	858
		Expected Count	107.0	751.0	858.0
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Crosstabs of Connectedness to the Institution by Race/Ethnicity

Percentage of Courses Taught Synchronously

An independent *t*-test was used to compare gender with the percent of courses students

had that were taught synchronously. There was not a significant difference between the groups, t

(940) = 0.553, p = .581. See Table 16 for descriptive statistics.

Table 16

Descriptive Statistics for Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Gender

	Gender	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation
Percent of Synchronous	Female	702	.4208	.34441
Courses	Male	240	.4347	.30947

An independent *t*-test was used to compare race/ethnicity with the percent of courses

students had that were taught synchronously. There was not a significant difference between the groups, t(925) = 0.807, p = .420. See Table 17 for descriptive statistics.

Table 17

Descriptive Statistics for Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Race/Ethnicity

	Race/Ethnicity	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation
Percent of Synchronous	BIPOC	115	.4480	.30822
Courses	White	812	.4209	.34073

An independent *t*-test was used to compare transfer status with the percent of courses students had that were taught synchronously. There was not a significant difference between the groups, t (850) = 0.934, p = .351. See Table 18 for descriptive statistics.

Table 18

Descriptive Statistics for Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Transfer Status

	Do you consider yourself a			
	transfer student?	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation
Percent of Synchronous	Yes	104	.4003	.29527
Courses	No	748	.4334	.34381

An independent *t*-test was used to compare athletes versus non-athletes with the percent of courses students had that were taught synchronously. There was not a significant difference between the groups, t (850) = 0.51, p = .610. See Table 19 for descriptive statistics.

Table 19

Descriptive Statistics for Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Athletic Status

	Were you an athlete			
	on a Bethel team			Std.
	this academic year?	Ν	Mean	Deviation
Percent of Synchronous	Yes	171	.4175	.45494
Courses	No	681	.4323	.30236

An independent *t*-test was used to compare multilingual status with the percent of courses students had that were taught synchronously. There was not a significant difference between the groups, t (850) = 0.847, p = .397. See Table 20 for descriptive statistics.

Table 20

Descriptive Statistics for Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Multilingual Status

	Are you a			Std.
	multilingual student?	Ν	Mean	Deviation
Percent of Synchronous	Yes	73	.4614	.31598
Courses	No	779	.4263	.34033

Welch's test was used to compare year in school with the percent of courses students had that were taught synchronously. Welch's test was used instead of the traditional one-way ANOVA because Levene's test revealed that the homogeneity of variances assumption was violated, F(3, 937) = 5.496, p = .001. Welch's test is robust even with heterogeneous variances. There was a significant difference between the groups, F(3, 409.51) = 36.67, p < .001. Least Significant Difference (LSD) post hoc tests revealed that seniors (M = .524, SD = .304) were significantly more likely to have their courses taught synchronously compared to juniors (M = .45, SD = .412), sophomores (M = .326, SD = .25), and first-years (M = .265, SD = .271). The post hoc tests also revealed that all other groups were significantly different from one another, as well, except for sophomores versus first-years. See Table 21 for descriptive statistics and Table 22 for post hoc tests.

			95% Confiden	ce Interval for		
	Std.			Me	an	
	Ν	Mean	Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
First-year	118	.2650	.27090	.02494	.2156	.3144
Sophomore	223	.3256	.25016	.01675	.2925	.3586
Junior	248	.4497	.41217	.02617	.3981	.5012
Senior	352	.5238	.30494	.01625	.4919	.5558
Total	941	.4248	.33564	.01094	.4034	.4463

Descriptive Statistics for Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Year in School

Table 22

LSD Post Hoc Tests for Percent of Courses Taught Synchronously by Year in School

Dependent variable. Fercent Synchronous Course	Dep	pendent	ent Variable:	Percent Sy	ynchronous	Courses
--	-----	---------	---------------	------------	------------	---------

LSD						
Mean					95% Confidence Interval	
(I) Year In	(J) Year In	Difference			Lower	Upper
School	School	(I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.	Bound	Bound
First-year	Sophomore	06059	.03664	.099	1325	.0113
	Junior	- .18469 [*]	.03600	.000	2553	1140
	Senior	25884*	.03424	.000	3260	1916
Sophomore	First-year	.06059	.03664	.099	0113	.1325
	Junior	12410 [*]	.02970	.000	1824	0658
	Senior	19826*	.02755	.000	2523	1442
Junior	First-year	.18469*	.03600	.000	.1140	.2553
	Sophomore	$.12410^{*}$.02970	.000	.0658	.1824
	Senior	07415*	.02669	.006	1265	0218
Senior	First-year	$.25884^{*}$.03424	.000	.1916	.3260
	Sophomore	$.19826^{*}$.02755	.000	.1442	.2523
	Junior	$.07415^{*}$.02669	.006	.0218	.1265

*. The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

Chapter V: Discussion, Implications, Recommendations Overview of the Study

While they have grown significantly in prevalence over the past two decades, online programs experience challenges with enrollment and retention (Allen & Seaman, 2017; Bawa, 2016). This is a challenge partly due to the overall decline of enrollment in higher education as a whole, but it is also a problem that is uniquely challenging for online programs that are competing not only with local schools but with schools across the country. Institutional connectedness is a relatively new concept in higher education, and institutions are just beginning to understand its significance. Historically, institutions have instinctively fostered institutional connection for students through on-campus activities and dorm life. However, community-building experiences are not as readily available in the online setting, and the strategies colleges have tried so far have not been as helpful as hoped (Glazer & Wanstreet, 2011; Rovai et al., 2005). This disconnection with others in the online environment can cause a perception of isolation for students who might rely on those experiences to feel connected (Villanueva et al., 2020). Because of this challenge with institutional connectedness, institutions will likely continue to struggle with retention at the same rate unless they can identify and implement effective strategies that support institutional connectedness.

This challenge was of particular concern during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, during which most institutions transitioned learning from a face-to-face modality to online. In response to the closing of their campuses, institutions scrambled to replace face-to-face learning with online learning, and in many cases, this included required synchronous online instruction (Quezada, 2020). While research had demonstrated previously that students who elect online learning formats are more likely to continue coursework if they have a sense of institutional connectedness, it was not clear if this would be true for students who originally

chose campus-based, face-to-face learning. Additionally, while institutions hoped that the synchronous online institution format would support a sense of connectedness and eventually retention, it was unclear if this instructional approach would actually yield those results.

The purpose of the research in this study was to investigate the relationship among synchronous online instruction, institutional connectedness, and intent to continue coursework (retention). Research previous to this study had demonstrated a positive correlation between institutional connectedness and retention in online programs (Wilson et al., 2020), but that research focused on students who chose to learn online (and may only represent the perspective of students who naturally experience a sense of connection in the online environment). Exploring these relationships during the COVID-19 pandemic allowed this study to determine if the same relationship exists in the online setting even for students who did not choose online learning on their own. This unique understanding can help institutions develop strategies about how to design synchronous learning, foster institutional connectedness, and support retention for all students.

Research Questions

This study sought to answer questions about the relationship among synchronous online instruction, institutional connectedness, and retention in higher education within the online learning context. To explore these relationships, the study focused on the following questions:

- 1. What is the relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connection to the institution?
- 2. What is the relationship between a sense of connection to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution?

3. What is the relationship between synchronous online instruction and intent to continue coursework at the institution?

In response to these questions, the researcher hypothesized the following:

Synchronous instruction and institutional connectedness

H1₀: There is no relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connectedness to their institution.

H1_A: There is a relationship between synchronous online instruction and a sense of connectedness to their institution.

Institutional connectedness and retention

 $H2_0$: There is no relationship between a sense of connectedness to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution.

H2_A: There is a relationship between sense of connectedness to the institution and intent to continue coursework at the institution.

Synchronous instruction and retention

H3₀: Students that participate in synchronous online instruction are equally or less likely to continue coursework in future terms.

H3_A: Students that participate in synchronous online instruction are more likely to continue coursework in future terms.

These were important questions to answer (and hypotheses to test) because of the demand for enrollment and retention. Additionally, these are helpful to explore because of the prevalence of synchronous instruction in higher education particularly as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. As institutions adjust instructional approaches in an attempt to keep students engaged and learning, it will be important and helpful to understand the benefits of synchronous instruction, which was a common strategy in 2020.

Conclusions

In the context where the survey was administered (Bethel University), this study rejected one null hypothesis and failed to reject two null hypotheses. Beyond the null hypotheses tested, this study also analyzed the primary hypothesis variables along with six key demographics (i.e., gender, race/ethnicity, transfer status, year in school, multilingual status, and participation in athletics). This additional analysis yielded important information that may help to further illustrate the findings on the original hypotheses.

Hypothesis findings.

The data showed that the first analysis (i.e., synchronous online instruction and a sense of institutional connectedness) failed to reject the null hypothesis. This means that there is no significant relationship between synchronous online instruction and students' perception of connectedness to their institution. This finding may be surprising to some academic leaders because of recent research that has shown synchronous offerings to correlate with a reduced sense of isolation in students (Quezada, 2020). However, it is important to remember that a student's sense of isolation is not specifically institutional connectedness; it reflects a perception of proximity (or lack thereof) with other individuals at the institution, or social connectedness, rather than a sense of proximity or connection with the institution as a whole.

Social connection is an important part of the educational experience, but it does not always clearly relate positively to retention because students' peer groups in the online setting may change from course to course. Furthermore, it is possible that in circumstances where technology presents challenges for the students or instructors, synchronous instruction may decrease the sense of proximity that students experience with others and with their institution (Villanueva et al., 2020). The findings of this study indicate that in the case of Bethel University's traditional, undergraduate students, synchronous online instruction neither increased nor decreased students' sense of proximity with the institution.

The data showed that the second null hypothesis (i.e., sense of institutional connectedness and intent to continue coursework) was rejected. This means that even for students who didn't choose online learning intentionally, there is a significant, positive correlation between the two variables and that students who report a sense of institutional connectedness are also more likely to have intentions to continue coursework at the institution. This likely will not come as a surprise to educators, as recent studies have shown a clear relationship between institutional connectedness and retention (Glazer & Wanstreet, 2011). This is an important conclusion because it underscores the importance of efforts at helping students feel connected to the institution as a whole rather than limiting efforts to increasing social connections with other individuals.

Finally, the data showed that the third null hypothesis (i.e., synchronous instruction and intent to continue coursework) failed to be rejected. This means that there is no relationship between synchronous online instruction and students' intent to continue coursework in future terms. Similar to the findings in the first hypothesis, this may be surprising to some academic leaders. In the scramble to compete for enrollment and retention, synchronous online

instruction has risen to the top of the list of strategies institutions hope will keep students engaged enough to complete coursework. This is particularly true in the COVID-19 pandemic timeframe, when traditional institutions converted instruction from the face-to-face modality to online, leaning on synchronous technologies like Zoom and Google Meet to emulate the inclass experience (Quezada, 2020). However, despite the hope that emulating face-to-face experiences would provide students with the motivation to continue coursework, this study reveals that synchronous online instruction neither positively nor negatively correlates with persistence.

Demographic findings.

All in all, this study showed that synchronous online instructional approaches might not be the solution institutions were hoping for. At least for traditional college students, synchronous online instruction was not a sure pathway to increased institutional connectedness or retention. However, despite the lack of relationship between synchronous instruction and the other variables (institutional connectedness and intent to continue coursework at the institution), this study reiterates earlier findings about a positive relationship between institutional connectedness and intent to continue coursework at the institution. Furthermore, the study highlights some demographic details that illustrate additional opportunities and challenges in relation to institutional connectedness and retention in the online setting.

In some cases, demographics appear to correlate positively with each variable. For example, in this study, the data showed that the female student gender correlated with a stronger expression of intent to continue coursework. This means that while males expressed they would likely return for coursework, females more commonly expressed a stronger

certainty that they would return, a similar finding to Adams's 2018 study on the perception of connectedness and retention for female transfer students.

Likewise, the data showed that higher numbers of years in school correlated positively with an increased intention to continue coursework at Bethel. For example, students with the most years in school (seniors who were not graduating) indicated the highest level of intent to continue over juniors, and juniors expressed a significantly higher level of intent to continue than sophomores and freshmen. This could be due to the perception of nearing graduation and the complications that arise when transferring late in the college career.

Interestingly, while not statistically significant, students who participated in athletics reported an intent to continue coursework at higher rates than those who do not participate in athletics. This is particularly interesting to note during a year when many sports activities were suspended due to the pandemic, meaning that many students who responded that they are involved in athletics are referring to past or anticipated involvement rather than current involvement. This could suggest that simple association with extracurricular clubs or activities, even if present participation in a face-to-face environment is not possible, can support student retention. It might also suggest that student involvement in extracurricular activities (such as athletics) makes a lasting impact on retention, even in years when participation is not possible.

While the relationship between athletic involvement and intent to continue coursework is not significant, athletic involvement does clearly correlate positively with a student's sense of connectedness to the institution. This aligns with recent research on the relationship between athletics and connection, and it is documented in the K-12 school system as well as in higher education (Martinez, Coker, McMahon, Cohen, & Thapa, 2016; Matthews, 2017).

Involvement in athletics is not unique in its correlation with institutional connectedness; transfer status correlates with connectedness, as well. In this study, students who identified as a "transfer student" expressed a lower level of connectedness with the institution than those who did not identify as transfer students. This is similar to the findings of a 2018 dissertation exploring the experiences of female students who transferred to UCLA (Adams, 2018). In the 2018 dissertation, Adams described the challenge that transfer students had with institutional connectedness and discussed exploring strategies for increasing the student's sense of loyalty to the institution.

In general, the findings of this study indicate that while synchronous online instruction did not correlate positively with increased institutional connectedness or retention, there was a positive relationship between a student's perception of their connection to the institution and their intent to continue coursework (retention). This suggests that for institutions that hope to increase retention, synchronous online instruction may not be the solution. However, finding other ways to increase institutional connectedness may be a solution. Furthermore, there may be key demographic opportunities and challenges to consider when developing institutional connectedness strategies (particularly in the online environment).

Implications for Practice

The analysis for the data collected in this study yielded results that can have implications for higher education institutions. These implications are important for colleges and universities that aim to support retention in the coming years as enrollment becomes increasingly challenging.

Synchronous online instruction.

First, it should be noted that this study focused only on synchronous online instruction from the perspective of institutional connectedness and retention. Synchronous instruction is not always utilized in a course for this reason; often, there is a curricular strategy at work in the decision to offer synchronous instruction online. This study set the curricular strategy aside and examines only the relationship between synchronous work, connectedness with the institution, and retention. There are likely benefits to synchronous instruction outside of this discussion, and it is important for institutions to consider all aspects of the synchronous instruction.

That said, in regard to connectedness and retention, institutions should understand that although it is a strategy that appears to replicate face-to-face experiences for students, synchronous instruction is not a reliable pathway to increased institutional connectedness or retention. There is some research that suggests incorporating synchronous instruction in an environment where students elected to learn online decreases a sense of social isolation in some circumstances (Quezada, 2020). However, this present study shows that there is no significant relationship between synchronous online instruction and retention. Likewise, there is no significant relationship between synchronous online instruction and a student's sense of connectedness with the institution as a whole.

This understanding is critical for institutions wrestling with enrollment challenges that create financial shortfalls in the university budget; if a university needs to prioritize tools that support retention, tools for synchronous online instruction may not rise to the top of the strategic options. This is a particularly important discussion for institutions that may struggle to support synchronous learning technologically, as synchronous instruction has been shown to

actually increase the perception of isolation in students when the synchronous sessions do not go as smoothly as planned (Villanueva et al., 2020). In these cases, it is possible that the institutions that focus significant resources around synchronous online instruction but do not properly structure or support those activities might be spending resources on a strategy that could negatively impact the university's goals in the end.

While this study suggests that synchronous online instruction does not support retention or connectedness goals, it is important to note that this may only be true of some university students. Participants in this study were undergraduate students at a face-to-face, traditional college who had enrolled in a university with the expectation that they would learn and develop a sense of connection on campus. The findings of this study describe the perceptions of students who are learning online but would otherwise have chosen to learn in a traditional setting, and they do not describe the perceptions of students who prefer to learn primarily online. It is important to continue investigating these topics in a variety of settings and with a variety of student groups, including traditional students, after the impact of COVID-19 is minimized.

Institutions that opt to incorporate synchronous online instruction should also be careful in how those activities are designed. Knowing that synchronous activities can increase a sense of isolation in cases where the technology is problematic, or the logistics are challenging, those activities should be designed with the student experience in mind. This could include (but is not limited to) lowering the stakes on synchronous activities (or offering them as optional rather than required), designing activities that encourage interaction among participants, providing multiple sessions at different times so students can select an option that

works best for them, and offering technological resources (tutorials, technology support) for students and faculty who may struggle to participate successfully in the activities.

Institutional Connectedness.

Synchronous online learning is not a reliable strategy for online programs that are seeking to help students feel connected and continue completing coursework, but finding ways to increase institutional connectedness is a worthwhile endeavor for universities that ultimately seek to support retention. Given the positive correlation between institutional connectedness and retention, it is critical for institutions to identify and pursue strategies outside of synchronous instruction to foster students' connection with their university.

While not central to the focus of this study, the data suggested that one avenue for supporting institutional connectedness through student involvement may be in extracurricular activities (particularly athletics). Involvement in these activities encourages students to perceive themselves as an important part of the larger institution and reinforces their reliance on the institution as a whole for experiences beyond academics. This could include on-campus opportunities for those who are local and online options for all students.

This study's data also suggested that another avenue for supporting institutional connectedness might relate to students who identify as transfer students. Due to the significant negative correlation between students who identified as transfer students and the perception of institutional connectedness, it would be worthwhile for institutions to investigate new ways to help transfer students specifically feel connected to their institution. This could include invitations to special events, opportunities to lead, activities that allow students to meet others, and even providing the student with items to wear or use that are marked with the university logo. Ironically, students who transfer into an institution after completing a portion of their

coursework elsewhere will naturally have less exposure to these strategies at the institution over time than students who completed their entire academic career in one place. Institutions that intend to utilize activities like these with the goal of increasing institutional connectedness for transfer students could consider specifically pursuing transfer student participation with the goal of increasing participation in that student population over a shorter span of time. While this was not a central concept of the study, it is an important area of exploration for institutions that seek to support connectedness.

Supporting retention.

This study indicated that synchronous online instruction does not correlate positively with retention, but it did show a positive relationship between institutional connectedness and retention. However, while this positive relationship is important to understand, it is important to remember that institutional connectedness is not the only vehicle for supporting retention.

The data in this study suggested that along with those who experience institutional connectedness, female students and students who have completed more years of school express a high likelihood of continuing in coursework at the institution. This suggests that institutions might be wise to focus on strategies for students who are not as likely to continue course work. Male students and students in the earlier years of college may benefit from institutional efforts that encourage and incentivize course continuation. This could include leadership opportunities, vouchers for the campus store, invitations to special events, and mentorship opportunities that help students who are less likely to persist connect with those who are more likely to persist.

Keeping in mind the positive relationship between institutional connectedness and retention, male students and students in earlier years of college may also benefit from efforts

that foster institutional connectedness. This includes opportunities through the institution and actions on behalf of the institution that helps students perceive themselves as an important part of the institution as a whole, as well as opportunities to encourage the student to reflect on the importance and relevance of the institution in their own life. Some examples of strategies could include involvement in leadership opportunities or institutional communications about student successes, mentorship programs, participation in whole-institution rallies or events, and opportunities to give feedback to leadership on the university experience.

Recommendations for Future Research

As with any research, this study highlighted some additional areas in which research would be beneficial. Some of these areas arise as a result of the limitations of this study, and others arise because of the data revealed in the study. The future directions of research recommended here highlight areas that seem most relevant to online education in the higher education context.

First and foremost, it would be wise to replicate this study at a time that is not impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. As mentioned previously, it feels ironic to study the perception of institutional connectedness at a time when people are experiencing connection in new ways and reshaping their understanding of connection in the first place. Repeating this survey outside of the pandemic crisis would allow researchers to observe themes in institutional connectedness and retention, especially as it relates to online coursework. Institutional connectedness is still an important topic during the pandemic, and studying connection at this time allows educators to understand the connection needs of all students rather than those who choose to learn online. While this is a very specific lens for exploring institutional connectedness, higher education institutions are increasingly providing online courses (and

students are faced increasingly with online offerings); this perspective on connection offers a unique value as schools and all of their students navigate the challenges of higher education in the 21st century.

This study gathered information from traditional undergraduate students. When repeating this study outside of pandemic times, it will be important to ensure that a study includes non-traditional learners. Online education is more prevalent in non-traditional higher education programs because non-traditional students are more likely to choose to learn online than traditional undergraduate students are. It will be important to understand what factors influence connection and retention for all students (both traditional and non-traditional) in order for institutions to strategically adjust their support and academic offerings to meet the needs of their specific student body. It would be ideal to include multiple institutions in this study with the goal of learning about students in a variety of institutional settings.

Previous research (Villanueva et al., 2020) has suggested that technological challenges can interfere with students' perceptions of the benefit of synchronous online learning, especially as it relates to a sense of isolation or connection. Future research on the topic of synchronous learning and a sense of connectedness could investigate the relationship between student and instructor fluency in synchronous online instruction and the students' sense of connection or isolation. It could be important to clarify in this study whether the sense of connection in question is a connection with particular individuals or with the institution, as those constructs differ greatly and may impact the study's implications.

Finally, it is important to recognize the importance of the demographic data this study gathered and consider what the next steps with that data might be. The demographic data in this study offered important insight into additional factors, outside of the hypothesis variables

that can impact the hypotheses independently. One important area of exploration is the impact of extracurricular involvement on connectedness and retention in higher education. Studies in this area could investigate whether the type of activity, number of activities, success in activities, or duration of activities correlate with a stronger connection and higher likelihood to continue coursework. An additional area of important exploration is transfer status. Research in this area could explore strategies institutions might employ in an attempt to mitigate the negative relationship between transfer status and institutional connectedness.

Concluding Comments

In an attempt to further explore students' sense of connectedness with a higher education institution in the online setting, the research in this dissertation has largely investigated the relationship between synchronous online instruction, institutional connectedness, and intent to continue course work (retention). While the study did not identify a significant relationship between synchronous instruction and institutional connectedness or retention, the data did reveal that institutional connectedness has a significant positive relationship with retention. This suggests that institutions that hope to raise retention rates may find success in doing so by focusing on strategies (other than synchronous online learning) that increase their students' sense of connectedness to the institution.

Finally, this study also identified some key demographic factors that appear to positively correlate with institutional connectedness and retention. While institutions cannot control the demographic factors of their student populations, they may be able to better understand how those factors impact connectedness and retention so they can adjust programming to better support students. Programming that supports students who are less

likely to continue, especially through strategies that foster institutional connectedness, is a great starting point.
References

- Adams, H. (2018). Understanding the Experience of Women Community College Transfer Students over the Age of 25 at UCLA [ProQuest LLC]. In *ProQuest LLC*.
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2015). Online report card: Tracking online education in the United States.Babson Survey Research Group.
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2017). *Digital compass learning: Distance education enrollment report*.Babson Survey Research Group.
- Ashforth, B. E., & Mael, F. (1989). Social identity theory and the organization. *The Academy of Management Review*, 14(1), 20-39. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1989.4278999
- Bawa, P. (2016, January 5). Retention in online courses: Exploring Issues and Solutions -- A Literature Review. *Sage Open*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015621777
- Biocca, F., Harms, C., & Burgoon, J. K. (2003). Toward a more robust theory and measure of social presence: Review and suggested criteria. *Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments, 12*(5), 456-480. doi:10.1162/105474603322761270
- Casey, D. M. (2008) A journey to legitimacy: The historical development of distance education through technology. *TechTrends*, *52*(2). 45.
- Chen, J. & Zhou, G. (2019). Chinese International students' sense of belonging in North American postsecondary institutions: A critical literature review. *Brock Education Journal*, 28(2), 48-63. doi.org/10.26522/brocked.v28I2.642
- Chen, S., Chen, K. Y., & Shaw, L. (2004). Self-verification motives at the collective level of self-definition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(1), 77-94. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.86.1.77

- Cheng, D. X. (2004). Students' sense of campus community: What it means, and what to do about it. *NAPSA Journal*, *41*(2), 216-234. doi:10.2202/1949-6605.1331
- Competency Based Education Network. (n.d.). Competency Based Education. https://www.cbenetwork.org/competency-based-education/
- Cooper, R. (2009). Constructing belonging in a diverse campus community. *Journal of College and Character, 10*(3), 1-10. doi:10.2202/1940-1639.1085
- Copley, D. (2020). The enrollment cliff, mega-universities, COVID-19, and the changing landscape of U.S. colleges. *The CPA Journal (1975)*, *90*(9), 22–27.
- Cowan, J. (2012). Strategies for developing a community of practice: Nine years of lessons learned in a hybrid technology education Master's program. *Techtrends: Linking Research & Practice To Improve Learning*, 56(1), 12-18. doi:10.1007/s11528-011-0549-x
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* New York, NY: Sage Publications.
- Current term enrollment estimates. (2019). National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. Retrieved from nscresearchcenter.org.

Day, C. (2021). The immediate impact of COVID-19 on postsecondary teaching and learning. *The Professional Geographer*, 73(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/00330124.2020.1823864

Dingel, M. J., & Sage, S. K. (2016). Dimensions of difference, sense of belonging and fitting in: Tensions around developing peer groups, student body diversity, and academic culture. *Learning Communities Journal*, 8(1), 131–156. Drouin, M. A. (2008). The relationship between students' perceived sense of community and satisfaction, achievement, and retention in an online course. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 9(3), 267-284. Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/106744/

Education Dive Team. (2020, September 17). A look at trends in college consolidation since 2016. Higher Ed Dive. Retrieved from https://www.highereddive.com/news/how-many-collegesand-universities-have-closed-since-2016/539379/

- Fain, P. (2019, January 28). Slow and steady for competency-based education. InsideHigherEd.com. Retrieved from https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2019/01/28/slow-growth-competencybased-education-survey-finds-interest-and-optimism-about-it
- Fischer, M. J. (2007). Settling into campus life: Differences by race/ethnicity in college involvement and outcomes. *Journal of Higher Education*, 78(2), 125-161. doi:10.1353/jhe.2007.0009
- Garcia, L., Adkins, C., & Bohlig, M. (2020, Sept 11). Deepening connections with students in a COVID-19 world. Association of American Colleges and Universities. Retrieved from https://www.aacu.org/blog/deepening-connections-students-covid-19-world
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2000). Critical inquiry in a text-based environment: Computer conference in higher education. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 2(2-3), 1-19.
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2001).Critical thinking, cognitive presence, and computer conferencing in distance education. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1), 7-23.

- Garrison, D., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2010). The first decade of the community of inquiry framework: A retrospective. *Internet & Higher Education*, 13(1/2), 5-9. doi:10.1016/j.iheduc.2009.10.003
- Glazer, H. R., & Wanstreet, C. E. (2011). Connection to the academic community: Perceptions of students in online education. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 12(1), 55-62.
 Retrieved from https://search.proquest.com/openview/d48b97de45cbc6815b2e9d7285d907b4/1?pq-

origsite=gscholar&cbl=29705

- Goodenow, C. (1993). The psychological sense of school membership among adolescents: Scale Development and educational correlates. *Psychology in the Schools, 30*, 79–90.
- Gunawardena, C. N. (1995). Social presence theory and implications for interaction collaborative learning in computer conferences. *International Journal of Education Telecommunications*, 1(2/3), 147-166.
- Harasim, L. (2000). Shift happens: Online education as a new paradigm in learning. *Internet and Higher Education*, *3*(1–2), 41–61.
- Hart, C. (2012). Factors associated with student persistence in an online program of study: A review of the literature. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, *11*(1), 19–42.
- Higher Education Data Sharing Consortium. (2020). HEDS COVID-19 response information. Retrieved January 30, 2021 from https://www.hedsconsortium.org/heds-covid-19-responseinformation/#Summary
- Hoffman, M., Richmond, J., Morrow, J. & Salomone, K. (2002-2003). Investigating "sense of belonging" in first-year college students. *Journal of College Student Retention*, 4(3), 227–256.

- Holmes, J. (2009). Prestige, charitable deductions and other determinants of alumni giving: Evidence from a highly selective liberal arts college. *Economics of Education Review*, 28(1), 18-28. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2007.10.008
- Hoover, E. (2020, Dec 10). The real Covid-19 enrollment crisis: Fewer low-income students went straight to college. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved from https://www.chronicle.com/article/the-real-covid-19-enrollment-crisis-fewer-low-incomestudents-went-straight-to-college
- Horn, A. (2014). Determinants of student success: An integrative perspective to orient policy and practice. Research Brief. *Midwestern Higher Education Compact Research Brief Series*, 1–11.
- Hotchkiss, J. L., Moore, R. E., & Pitts, M. M. (2006). Freshman learning communities, college performance, and retention. *Education Economics*, *14*(2), 197–210.
- Hughes, G. D. (2009). Using videos to bring lecture to the online classroom. *College Quarterly*, *12*(1), 1-10.
- Institutional Review Board. (2020). Bethel University. Retrieved from https://www.bethel.edu/academics/irb/
- Jackson, C. L., Colquitt, J. A., Wesson, M. J., & Zapata-Phelan, C. P. (2006). Psychological collectivism: A measurement validation and linkage to group member performance. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 91(4), 884. Retrieved from https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2006-08435-011
- Jones, S. J., & Meyer, K. A. (2012). The "Virtual Face" of distance learning at public colleges and universities: What do websites reveal about administrative student support services?. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 15(4).

- Jorgenson, D. A., Farrell, L. C., Fudge, J. L., & Pritchard, A. (2018). College Connectedness: The Student Perspective. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *18*(1), 75–95.
- June, A. (2020 Nov 12). Undergraduate-enrollment picture worsens as pandemic drags on. *The Chronical of Higher Education*. Retrieved from https://www.chronicle.com/article/undergraduate-enrollment-picture-worsens-as-pandemic-drags-on
- Kim, T., Chang, K., & Jae Ko, Y. (2010). Determinants of organisational identification and supportive intentions. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 26(5), 413-427. doi:10.1080/02672570903485022
- Kim, J., Kwon, Y., & Cho, D. (2011). Investigating factors that influence social presence and learning outcomes in distance higher education. *Computers & Education*, 57(2), 1512-1520.
- Koksal, I. (2020, May 2). *The rise of online learning*. Forbes. Retrieved from https://www.forbes.com/sites/ilkerkoksal/2020/05/02/the-rise-of-onlinelearning/?sh=118260f572f3
- Lemay, E. P., & Ashmore, R. D. (2004). Reactions to perceived categorization by others during the transition to college: Internalization and self-verification processes. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 7(2), 173-187. doi:10.1177/1368430204043722
- Leonhardt, D., & Chinoy, S. (2019, May 23). *The college dropout crisis*. NY Times. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2019/05/23/opinion/sunday/college-graduation-rates-ranking.html
- Leonhardt, D. (2015). *College for the masses*. NY Times. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2015/04/26/upshot/college-for-the-masses.html

- Lorin, J. (2020, Sep 23). Covid risk, online classes spur U.S. college enrollment drop. *Bloomberg*. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-09-24/covid-risk-onlineclasses-spur-drop-in-u-s-college-enrollments
- Mael, F., & Ashforth, B. E. (1992). Alumni and their alma mater: A partial test of the reformulated model of organizational identification. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *13*(2), 103-123. doi:10.1002/job.4030130202
- Mael, F. A. & Ashforth, B. E. (1995). Loyal from day on: Big data, organisational identification, and turnover among newcomers. *Personnal Psychology*, 48, 309-333.
- Martinez, A., Coker, C., McMahon, S. D., Cohen, J., & Thapa, A. (2016). Involvement in Extracurricular Activities: Identifying Differences in Perceptions of School Climate. *Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, 33, 70–84.
- Masika, R., & Jones, J. (2016). Building student belonging and engagement: Insights into higher education students' experiences of participating and learning together. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 21(2), 138-150. doi:10.1080/13562517.2015.1122585
- Matthews, W. K. (2017). "Stand by Me": A Mixed Methods Study of a Collegiate Marching Band Members' Intragroup Beliefs throughout a Performance Season. *Journal of Research in Music Education*, 65(2), 179–202.
- McDearmon, J. T. (2010). What's in it for me: A qualitative look into the mindset of young alumni non-donors. International *Journal of Educational Advancement*, 10(1), 33-47. doi:10.1057/ijea.2010.3
- McIsaac, M., Blocher, J., Mahes, V., & Vrasidas, C. (1999). Student and teacher perceptions of interaction in online computer-mediated communication. *Educational Media International*, 36(2), 121.

- McMillan, D. W., & Chavis, D. M. (1986). Sense of community: A definition and theory. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *14*(1), 6-23. doi:10.1002/1520-6629(198601)14:1<6::AID-JCOP2290140103>3.0.CO;2-I.
- Monks, J. (2003). Patterns of giving to one's alma mater among young graduates from selective institutions. *Economics of Education Review*, 22(2), 121-130. doi:10.1016/S0272-7757(02)00036-5
- Moore, M. G. (2013). Handbook of distance education: Third edition. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Morris, N., Ivanchea, M., Coop, T., Mogliacci, R., & Swinnerton, B. (2020, November 9).
 Negotiating growth of online education in higher education. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education 17*, 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-020-00227-w
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2019). Undergraduate retention and graduation rates. Retrieved June 17, 2019, from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_ctr.asp
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2021.) Bethel University. Retrieved January 30, 2021, from

https://nces.ed.gov/collegenavigator/?q=bethel+university&s=all&id=173160#netprc

- National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. (2020, Nov 12). Stay informed with the latest enrollment information. Retrieved from https://nscresearchcenter.org/stay-informed/
- Noel-Levitz, I. (2011). Student Retention Practices at Four-Year and Two-Year Institutions,
 2011. Noel-Levitz Report on Undergraduate Trends in Enrollment Management. *Noel-Levitz, Inc.*

- Offir, B., Lev, Y., & Bezalel, R. (2008). Surface and deep learning processes in distance education: Synchronous versus asynchronous systems." *Computers & Education 51*(3): 1172–1183. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2007.10.009.
- O'Keeffe, P. (2013). A sense of belonging: Improving student retention. College Student Journal, 47(4), 605-613.
- Oliviera, I., Tinoca, L., & Pereira, A. (2011). Online group work patterns: How to promote a successful collaboration. *Computers & Education*, 57(1), 1348-1357.
 doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2011.01.017

Patten, M. (2014). Understanding research methods. Glendale, CA: Pyrczak Publishing.

- Peters, O. (1967). Distance education and industrial production: a comparative interpretation in outline. [Published monograph]. Retrieved from http://www.c3l.uni-oldenburg.de/cde/found/peters67.htm
- Quezada, R. (2020). From bricks and mortar to remote teaching: A teacher education program's response to COVID-19. *Journal of Education for Teaching: International Research and Pedagogy.*, *46*(4), 472–483.
- Rice, R. E. (1993). Media appropriateness: Using social presence theory to compare traditional and new organization media. *Human Communication Research*, *19*(4), 451-484.
- Rovai, A.P. (2001). Building and sustaining community and asynchronous learning networks. *Internet and Higher Education, 3*(1). 285-297.
- Rovai, A. P. (2002). Building sense of community at a distance. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 3*(1).

- Rovai, A. P., Wighting, M. J., & Jing, L. (2005). School climate. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 6(4), 361-374. Retrieved from http://debdavis.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/91465800/EDUC815-School%20Climate.pdf
- Rovai, A. P., Wighting, M. J., Baker, J. D., & Grooms, L. D. (2009). Development of an instrument to measure perceived cognitive, affective, and psychomotor learning in traditional and virtual classroom higher education settings. *Internet & Higher Education, 12*(1), 7-13. doi:10.1016/j.iheduc.2008.10.002
- Savery, J. R. (2010). BE VOCAL: Characteristics of successful online instructors. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 9(3), 141-152.
- Shin, N. (2002). Beyond Interaction: The relational construct of 'Transactional Presence'. Open Learning, 17(2), 121-137. doi:10.1080/02680510220146887 Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/02680510220146887
- Short, J. A., Williams, E., & Christie, B. (1976). The social psychology of telecommunications. London, United Kingdom: John Wiley.
- Skinner, E. (2007). Building knowledge and community through online discussion. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, *31*(3), 381-391. doi: 10.1080/03098260601065151
- Skinner, E. (2009). Using community development theory to improve engagement in online discussion: a case study. *Research in Learning Technology*, 17(2), 89-100. doi: 10.1080/09687760902951599
- Skramstad, E., Schlosser, C., & Orellana, A. (2012). Teaching presence and communication timeliness in asynchronous online courses. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 13(3), 183-188.

Smalley, A. (2020, Dec 28). Higher education responses to Coronavirus (COVID-19). National Conference of State Legislatures. Retrieved from https://www.ncsl.org/research/education/higher-education-responses-to-coronavirus-covid-19.aspx

- Stone, C., & Springer, M. (2019). Interactivity, connectedness and "Teacher-Presence": Engaging and retaining students online. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*, *59*(2), 146–169.
- Swann, W. J., Buhnmester, M. D. (2015, February). Identity fusion. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 24(152-57). doi: 10.1177/0963721414551363
- Swann, W. B., Jr., Gómez, A., Seyle, C. D., Morales, J. F., & Huici, C. (2009). Identity fusion: The interplay of personal and social identities in extreme group behavior. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 96, 995–1011. doi:10.1037/a0013668
- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. C. (1979). An integrative theory of intergroup conflict. In W. G. Austin & S.
 Worchel (Eds.), *The social psychology of intergroup relations* (pp. 33–47). Monterey, CA:
 Brooks/Cole.
- Talaifar, A. (2020). A new pathway to university retention? Identity Fusion with university predicts retention independently of grades. *Social Psychological & Personality Science*, 12(1), 117. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550619894995
- Tinto, V. (1971). Accessibility of colleges as a factor in the rate and selectivity of college attendance (Doctoral dissertation). Department of Education, University of Chicago.
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research. *Review* of Educational Research, 45(1), 89-125. doi:10.3102/00346543045001089
- Tinto, V. (2012). Completing college: Rethinking institutional action. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

- Tsao, J. C., & Coll, G. (2005). To give or not to give: Factors determining alumni intent to make donations as a PR outcome. *Journalism & Mass Communication Educator*, 59(4), 381-392. Retrieved from <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107769580405900407</u>
- Turner, J. C. (1985). 'Social categorization and the self-concept'. In: Lawler, E. J. (Ed.) Advances in Group Processes, Vol. 2, Greenwich, Connecticut: JAI Press.
- U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). Competency-based Learning or Personalized Learning. Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/oii-news/competency-based-learning-orpersonalized-learning
- Villanueva, M. E., Camilli, E., Chirillano, A. C., Cufré, J. A., de Landeta, M. C., Rigacci, L. N., Velazco, V. M., & Pighin, A. F. (2020). Teaching Instrumental Analytical Chemistry during COVID-19 Times in a Developing Country: Asynchronous versus Synchronous Communication. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 97(9), 2719–2722.
- Vogt, W. P. (2007). *Quantitative research methods for professionals*. Boston, MA: Pearson Education.
- Vonderwell, S., Liang, X., & Alderman, K. (2007). Asynchronous discussions and assessment in online learning. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 39(3), 309-328.
- Walton, G. M., & Brady, S. T. (2017). The many questions of belonging. In A. Elliot, C. Dweck, & D. S. Yeager (Eds.), Handbook of competence and motivation: Theory and application (pp. 272–293). Guilford Press.
- Whitehouse, H. (2018). Dying for the group: Towards a general theory of extreme selfsacrifice. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *41*, 1–64.

- Wilson, S. P., Gore, J. S., Renfro, A., Blake, M., Muncie, E., & Treadway, J. (2018). The tether to home, university connectedness, and the Appalachian student. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory and Practice, 20*(1), 139-160.
- Wilson, S., Gore, J., & Williamson, B. (2020). The impact of employment and university connectedness on the academic success of college students taking varying numbers of online courses. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 23(2). Retrieved from https://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/summer232/wilson_gore_williamson232.html
- Yeager, D. S., Walton, G. M., Brady, S. T., Akcinar, E. N., Paunesku, D., Keane, L., & Dweck, C. D. (2016). Teaching a lay theory before college narrows achievement gaps at scale. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113, E3341–E3348.
- Zawacki-Richter, O. & Anderson, T. (2014). Online distance education: Towards a research agenda. Edmonton, AB: AU Press. Retrieved from http://www.aupress.ca/books/120233/ebook/99Z_Zawacki-Richter_Anderson_2014-Online_Distance_Education.pdf
- Zimmerman, T., & Nimon, K. (2017). The Online Student Connectedness Survey: Evidence of initial construct validity. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(3), 25–46.

Appendix A



Kara Wicklund <k-wicklund@bethel.edu> Fwd: Bethel in MN using

Student Survey

Joel Frederickson <frejoe@bethel.edu> Tue, Jan 19, 2021 at 8:46 AM To: Kara Wicklund <k-wicklund@bethel.edu>

------ Forwarded message ------From: **Nicole Seidler** <nicole.seidler@hedsconsortium.org> Date: Mon, Apr 27, 2020 at 1:40 PM Subject: Re: Bethel in MN using Student Survey To: Joel Frederickson <frejoe@bethel.edu>

Hi Joel,

Thank you so much for reaching out and letting me know. We hope the survey is a bright spot amidst the current pandemic.

Best, Nicole

Nicole Seidler HEDS Research Analyst & Data Manager https://www.hedsconsortium.org 765-361-6381

On Mon, Apr 27, 2020 at 2:34 PM Joel Frederickson <frejoe@bethel.edu> wrote: Dear Nicole

We thank HEDS for allowing institutions to use their COVID Surveys for internal purposes. We at Bethel University (St. Paul, MN) plan to adapt part of the student survey for internal purposes only. We will cite © 2020 Higher Education Data Sharing Consortium for those items.

Please let me know if you need anything else from us at Bethel.

Sincerely,

Joel

Joel Frederickson, Ph.D. | Professor | Psychology Department Associate Dean of Institutional Assessment & Accreditation | AC343F Bethel University | 3900 Bethel Drive, St. Paul, MN 55112 | 651-638-6317

Appendix B

2020 Campus Life Survey (Survey Items Used)

- 183. How many courses are you taking this semester right now (do not include courses that were only a half semester long in the first half of the semester)?
- 182. How many of your courses have met synchronously (e.g., class meets together with the instructor at the same time for a lecture or discussion) at least once since classes were moved online because of COVID-19?
- 178. How connected do you feel to Bethel?
- 179. Do you intend to return to Bethel next fall to continue and/or complete your education?